Aus der Klinik für Kardiologie und Angiologie der Medizinischen Fakultät Charité – Universitätsmedizin Berlin

DISSERTATION

Midregional Pro-A-Type Natriuretic Peptide as Part of a Dual Biomarker Strategy for the Early Rule Out of non-ST Segment Elevation Acute Coronary Syndrome

Mittregionales Pro-Atriales Natriuretisches Peptid als Teil einer dualen Biomarker-Strategie für den früheren Ausschluss des akuten Koronarsyndroms ohne ST-Strecken-Hebung

> zur Erlangung des akademischen Grades Doctor medicinae (Dr. med.)

vorgelegt der Medizinischen Fakultät Charité – Universitätsmedizin Berlin

von

Miloš Tajsić

aus Belgrad, Serbien

Datum der Promotion: 30.11.2023

Inhalt

I Ab	kürzungsverzeichnis	5
II Al	bstract	7
II.1 A	Abstract (englisch)	7
II.2 A	Abstract (deutsch)	8
III D	Dissertation	9
1. (Current State of Research	9
1.1	Atrial Natriuretic Peptide and the Natriuretic Hormone Fami	ly9
1.1.2	2. The physiological effects of the ANP-receptor-agonist bin	ding12
1.2.	Midregional pro-A-type natriuretic peptide	14
1.3.	Acute Coronary Syndrome	15
1.4	Role of mr-proANP/ANP in diagnosis and treatment of ac	ute and
	chronic heart failure	17
1.5.	Clinical importance of Mr-proANP/ANP as biomarker	19
1.6.	Clinical importance of cardiac Troponin as biomarker	19
1.7.	Current Biomarker Algorithms in Diagnosis of NSTE-ACS	20
1.8.	The Dual Biomarker Concept	21
2.	Methods	22
2.1.	Study population	22
2.2.	Study procedures	22
2.3.	Biomarker testing	22
2.4.	Endpoints	23
2.5.	Statistics	23

2.6.	Data processing	24						
2.7.	Ethical considerations	24						
2.8.	Scientific hypothesis	24						
3.	Results	25						
3.1.	Patients' characteristics	25						
3.2.	Biomarkers	30						
4.	Scientific Yield and Clinical Applications	37						
4.1	Scientific Yield	37						
4.2	Clinical Applications	39						
4.3	Limitations	39						
5.	References	41						
IV E	Eidesstattliche Versicherung / Anteilserklärur	ng50						
V A	uszug aus der Journal Summary List	52						
VI F	Publikation	54						
1. In	troduction							
2. M	lethods	56						
2.1.	Study population							
2.2.	Study procedures	56						
2.3.	Biomarker testing	56						
2.4.	Endpoints	56						
2.5.	2.5. Statistics							
2.6.	Ethical considerations	56						
		3						

3. Results	56
3.1. Patient characteristics	56
3.2. Biomarkers	57
4. Discussion	58
4.1. Limitations	59
5. Conclusions	60
6. Supplemental Data	61
VII Lebenslauf	64
VIII Publikationsliste	66
IX Danksagung	67

I Abkürzungsverzeichnis

ANP	Atrial Natriuretic Peptide
NPRA	natriuretic peptide receptor-A
NPR _B	natriuretic peptide receptor-B
NPRc	natriuretic peptide clearance receptor-C
ACS	Acute Coronary Syndrome
ACEI	angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitor
ARNI	angiotensin receptor neprilysin inhibitor
AUROC	area under the receiver operating characteristics curve
BNP	brain natriuretic peptide
BMI	body mass index
BP	blood pressure
CNP	C-type natriuretic peptide
CABG	coronary artery bypass grafting
CA	coronary angiography
CAD	coronary artery disease
cTnl	cardiac troponin I
cTnT	cardiac troponin T
CK-MB	creatine kinase-muscle/brain
CI	confidence Interval
ER	Emergency Room
ECG	electrocardiogram
eCRF	electronic case report form
GRACE Score	Global Registry of Acute Coronary Events Score
IQR	interquartile ranges
h s-cTn	high sensitive cardiac troponin assay
KDIGO	Kidney Disease: Improving Global Outcomes

LoD	limit of detection
LoQ	limit of quantification
M r-proANP	mid-regional pro a-type natriuretic peptide
MI	myocardial infarction
NPS	Natriuretic peptide system
NCC	sodium-chloride symporter
NT-proANP	N-terminal portion of proANP
NEP	enzyme-neutral endopeptidase
NSTE-ACS	non ST elevation myocardial infarction
NPV	negative predictive value
PAD	peripheral arterial disease
PCI	percutaneous coronary intervention
RAAS	renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system
RSS	Renal sympathetic system
STE-ACS	ST elevation myocardial infarction
s-cTnl	sensitive cardiac troponin I assay
SOT	symptom onset time
ΤΙΑ	transitory ischemic attack
UA	unstable angina
URL	upper reference limit

II Abstract

II.1 Abstract (englisch)

Background:

Mr-proANP is a biomarker produced in atrial and left ventricular myocardium. We investigated the effect of combined measurement of mr-proANP and high-sensitive cardiac Troponin I assay of the penultimate generation (s-cTnI) for an early type-1 and type-2 NSTE-ACS rule-out with emphasis on the very early presenters' subgroup with symptom onset time (SOT) \leq 2 h.

Methods:

This was a prospective cohort study of 311 consecutive patients admitted to ER with symptoms suggestive of an acute coronary syndrome (ACS). All patients had baseline mr-proANP and s-cTnI measurements.

Results:

Of the total cohort, 17.6% (n = 55) had final diagnosis of NSTE-ACS: 9.6% (n = 30) had an angiographically-confirmed type-1 infarction and 8.0% (n = 25) had type-2 infarction. In the subgroup of very early presenters (SOT \leq 2 h) the negative predictive value (NPV) of s-cTnI for type-1 NSTEACS was 96.7% (95%-CI: 87.5–99.4) and the NPV of mr-proANP was 100% (95%-CI: 87.1– 100). The dual biomarker strategy yielded an NPV of 100% (95%-CI: 86.7–100). In the same timerelated subgroup, the NPV of s-cTnI alone for type-2 was 98.3% (95%-CI: 89.8–99.9) and the NPV of mr-proANP was 97.0% (95%-CI: 82.5–100). The combination of biomarker increased the NPV to 100% (95%-CI: 86.7–100).

Conclusions:

Our study demonstrated an immediate release pattern of mr-proANP in NSTE-ACS that may bridge the silent troponin time phenomenon when highest-sensitivity cardiac troponin assays are not used. This concept performed best in the very early presenters' subgroup with an excellent NPV of 100% and might result in an early rule-out of NSTE-ACS thus accelerating the diagnostic work-up.

II.1 Abstract (deutsch)

Hintergrund:

Mr-proANP ist ein Biomarker, der im atrialen und linksventrikulären Myokard produziert wird. Wir haben den Effekt der kombinierten Messung von mr-proANP und hochsensitivem kardialen Troponin I der vorletzten Generation (s-cTnl) für einen früheren Ausschluss vom NSTE-ACS Typ-1 und Typ- 2 untersucht mit Akzentsetzung auf jene Patienten, die sich sehr früh nach Symptombeginn (\leq 2 h) in der Notaufnahmen vorstellten.

Methoden:

Es handelte sich um eine prospektive Kohortenstudie von 311 hintereinander kommenden Patienten, die sich in der Notaufnahme mit Symptomen, die auf ein akutes Koronarsyndrom (ACS) hindeuteten, vorstellten. Bei allen Patienten fand die Bestimmung von mr-proANP- und s-cTnI-Spiegel unmittelbar nach dem Eintreffen in der Notaufnahme statt.

Ergebnisse:

Von der Gesamtkohorte hatten 55 (17,6%) Patienten die endgültige Diagnose eines NSTE-ACS, 30 (9,6%) Patienten hatten einen angiographisch bestätigten Typ-1-Infarkt und 25 (8,0%) Patienten hatten einen Typ-2-Infarkt.

In der Subgruppe der Patienten, die sich sehr früh nach Symptombeginn (SOT ≤ 2 h) vorstellten, betrug der negative prädiktive Wert (NPW) von s-cTnI für Typ-1-NSTE-ACS 96,7% (95% -CI: 87,5–99,4) und der NPW von mr-proANP 100% (95% -CI: 87,1–100). Die duale Biomarker-Strategie erbrachte einen NPW von 100% (95% -CI: 86,7–100). In derselben Subgruppe betrug der NPW von s-cTnI allein für Typ-2 98,3% (95% -CI: 89,8–99,9), der NPW von mr-proANP betrug 97,0% (95% -CI: 82,5–100). Die Kombination zweier Biomarker erhöhte den NPW auf 100% (95% -CI: 86,7–100).

Schlussfolgerungen:

Unsere Studie zeigte ein sofortiges Freisetzungsmuster von mr-proANP in NSTE-ACS, was möglicherweise das Phänomen der "silent troponin time" überbrücken könnte, wenn keine Herz-Troponin-Assays mit höchster Empfindlichkeit verwendet werden. Dieses Konzept erzielte in der Gruppe der Patienten, die sich sehr früh nach Symptombeginn vorstellten, einen NPW von 100%. Somit könnte ein früherer Ausschluss von NSTE-ACS erzielt werden, wodurch die gesamte diagnostische Aufarbeitung beschleunigt werden könnte.

III Dissertation

1. Current State of Research

1.1 Atrial Natriuretic Peptide and the Natriuretic Hormones Family

Atrial Natriuretic Peptide (ANP) is a cardiac regulatory hormone, synthetized mainly by the myocytes of the atria. ANP belongs to the family of natriuretic hormones: the group of nine structurally similar hormones synthetized in the heart atria, intestinal, renal, and adrenal tissue. ANP is a 28-amino acid peptide with a 17-amino acid ring in the center of the molecule, which consists of a disulfide bond between two residues cysteine (at positions 7 and 23). (Graph 1) (1) The other members of this hormone cluster are BNP (brain natriuretic peptide) and CNP (C-type natriuretic peptide), which all share a similar amino acid ring structure. (2, 3)



Graph 1: Structure of ANP (Potter et al.)

Prepro-ANP is the prohormone and the precursor of ANP and it is released in atria. This polypeptide consists of 151 amino acids and is in its nature susceptible to fragmentation. (Graph 2) The mature atrial natriuretic peptide (ANP), a 28-amino acids polypeptide, represents a smaller part of the whole prepro-ANP molecule, and has a short half-life. (1) On the other hand, the N-terminal portion of prepro-ANP called mid-regional proANP, comprises the larger portion of proANP with its 98 amino acids, with a much longer half-life than mature ANP and therefore poses as more reliable analyte for clinical routine measurement (4).



Graph 2: Structure of the precursor hormone for ANP (Potter et al.)

As mentioned, ANP is mainly synthetized and stored by the myocytes of the atria. Its release from the atrial granules is primarily stimulated by the:

(1) Stretch of the atrial wall induced by an increased intravascular volume and the

(2) Pressor hormones (norepinephrine, epinephrine, vasopressin, dopamine, dobutamine, etc.). (5-7) After secretion of the ANP-precursor (prepro-ANP) and its cleavage into the mature peptide (Graph 1), ANP enters the coronary sinus and reaches its receptors in target organs via the bloodstream. ANP binds to a specific set of receptors called natriuretic peptide receptors (NPR receptors). There are three main types of the NPR-receptors: natriuretic peptide receptor-A (NPR_A), natriuretic peptide receptor-B (NPR_B), natriuretic peptide clearance receptor (NPR_C).

The NPR_A and NPR_B receptors have a single segment that spans through the membrane. An extracellular domain binds the ligand and an intracellular domain maintains two of the catalytic domains for guanylyl cyclase activity. ANP_c is a receptor that binds all natriuretic peptides and functions as a clearance receptor by attaching and sequestering ANP from the bloodstream. (1)

The plasma levels of ANP in healthy individuals were shown to be low at 11 ± 0.9 fmol/ml (11 pmol/L) and demonstrated a significant increase with maximal median values of 71 \pm 9.9 fmol/ml (71 pmol/L) (p<0.01) when measured in patients with chronic heart failure. (8)

The levels of the mr-proANP measured using the sandwich immunoassay (B.R.A.H.M.S SERISTRA[®], B.R.A.H.M.S AG) developed by Morgenthaler et al, demonstrated aged and gender-related differences in levels of mr-proANP in healthy population. (9) The highest levels were measured in the oldest age group with median values of 68.6 pmol/L. Furthermore, there was a clear correlation between the mr-proANP levels and increasing age, with significant gender differences in the 26-35 years group in favor of women and in 46-55 years group in favor of men. (Graph 3.)

On the other hand, the Leicester Acute Myocardial Infarction Peptide (LAMP) Study demonstrated significantly elevated plasma levels of mr-proANP in patients with AHF. The patients who died due to AHF had median mr-proANP median values of 310 pmol/L (IQR 48 to 1150 pmol/L). The median value of the mr-proANP in patients with AHF that survived was measured at 108 (IQR 4.9 to 1,210 pmol/l).

		Age group								
	18–25 years 26–35 years			36–45 years		46-55	46–55 years		56–65 years	
	Male	Female	Male	Female	Male	Female	Male	Female	Male	Female
n	19	25	33	35	54	45	41	27	25	21
Median, pmol/L	35.0	43.3	31.7	45.1	44.0	41.1	57.4	41.4	64.8	68.6
Range, pmol/L	19.8-121.0	11.3-123.0	12.5-116.0	9.6-181.0	18.9-119.0	13.6-120.0	17.4-241.0	23.1-144.0	31.2-183.0	26.6-313.0
P, Mann-Whitney test	0.28		0.02		0.65		0.05		0.74	

Graph 3: Midregional proANP in healthy donors stratified by age and gender (Morgenthaler et al.)

The half-life of ANP in human plasma is approximately 2 min, before being degraded (10, 11) by an enzyme-neutral endopeptidase (NEP) also called neprilysin (Graph 1) (12, 13) or through binding to the natriuretic peptide clearance receptor (NPR_c). Identical pathway of degradation and neutralization applies for BNP.

ANP_c is a cell surface receptor lacking guanylyl cyclase activity thereby neutralizing the concentrations of natriuretic peptides via receptor-mediated internalization and degradation. The inhibition of neprilysin prolongs the half-life of ANP both in vitro (12) and in vivo (14), suggesting that neprilysin activity contributes to the rapid clearance of ANP, although the degradation of ANP is a synergetic effect of both neprilysin activation and ANP_c binding.

ANP together with its matching receptors (NPR_A, NPR_B, and NPR_c) and neprolisyn/enzyme-neutral endopeptidase (NEP) play a pivotal role as a part of three major systems that regulate the extracecullar fluid volume:

(1) Electrolyte retention systems i.e. renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system (RAAS)

(2) Renal sympathetic system (RSS)

(3) Salt (Natriuretic Peptide) hormone elimination system i.e. natriuretic peptide system.

These systems are working in an antagonistic manner. The activation of the RASS and RSS leads to reduction of the extracellular space and vasoconstriction thereby increasing the periphery vascular resistance. In contrast, the activation of the natriuretic peptide system leads to the expansion of both atria of the heart.

1.1.2. The physiological effects of the ANP-receptor-agonist binding

The ANP-receptors are widely present in the body, where the binding of the receptor-agonists causes the increase in renal sodium excretion, which results in a decreased extracellular fluid and blood volume thereby reducing the systematic blood pressure and cardiac afterload. This leads to an improvement in cardiac ejection fraction.

Renal physiological effects

Binding of the ANP to its receptors in the kidney, increases the sodium and water elimination (natriuresis) through several physiological mechanisms (15, 16):

- ANP increases glomerular filtration rate and glomerular permeability. By binding to NPR_A and NPR_B receptors, ANP directly facilitates the dilatation of the afferent arteriole and prevents the vasoconstriction of the vessel caused by norepinephrine. Furthermore, ANP relaxes the glomerular mesangial cells by directly inhibiting Angiotensin II and increases the diameter and number of glomerular pores. As a consequence, the glomerular permeability increases and leads to a greater filtration turnover of sodium and water. (17, 18)

- On the other hand, in an interaction with sodium-chloride symporter (NCC) and cortical collecting duct of the nephron, stimulation of the NPR_A and NPR_B receptors reduces the sodium reabsorption in the distal convoluted tubule; ANP also inhibits the Sodium Potassium ATPase pump resulting in less sodium re-absorption and more sodium excretion. (17, 18)

- Furthermore, ANP inhibits the renal sympathetic nervous system by blocking the renin secretion and consequently the renin-angiotensin-aldosterone axis thereby inhibiting the production of angiotensin and aldosterone and ultimately the vasopressin secretion. This emphasizes the antagonizing effect that ANP has regarding aldosterone: aldosterone increases renal sodium retention and ANP increases renal sodium loss (19).

Blood pressure homeostasis

The major signaling pathway for the regulation of the blood pressure homeostasis is the binding of ANP to NPR_A receptors (20-23). The activation of the NPR_A decreases blood pressure through several mechanisms: (1) vasorelaxation, (2) natriuresis and diuresis, (3) increased endothelium permeability and (4) by antagonizing of the renin-angiotensin system. The experiments demonstrated that volume injection in the heart atrium leads to a prompt release of ANP as well as activation of NPR_A with subsequent triggering of the abovementioned pathway mechanisms (24). Furthermore, mice with genetically engineered reduction in NPR_A-expression in the vascular endothelium demonstrated impairment on the blood pressure regulation with increased volume expansion, reduced albumin clearance and subsequent hypertension (25).

Effects of Natriuretic Peptides on Cardiac Hypertrophy and Fibrosis/Remodeling

An additional effect of ANP, beside the regulation of blood pressure, is the inhibition of the cardiac hypertrophy as well as the antagonization of the cardiac fibrosis and remodeling. Hypertrophy is regulated along the ANP/BNP-NPR_A receptors pathway, whereas remodeling is regulated by both the ANP/BNP-NPR_A and the ANP/BNP-NPR_B pathways.

Cardiac hypertrophy is caused by calcium influx facilitated by norepinephrine. By binding to NPR_A receptors, ANP inhibits this influx and therefore prevents the hypertrophy. (18) Although prolonged hypertension alone induces the cardiac hypertrophy, experiments demonstrated that in NPR_A deficient mice, the level of hypertrophy was significantly greater than that observed in other genetic models without the NPR_A knockout genotype. These findings suggest that NPR_A generates a local growth inhibitory signal in the heart. Furthermore, the data showed that NPR_A knockout mice had myocardial hypertrophy, resistant to the treatment with antihypertensive drugs, even when treated from birth (26), whereas mice with overexpressing ANP/NPR_A genotype had smaller hearts. (27, 28)

The pathophysiology of cardiac fibrosis and remodeling is determined by prolonged inflammation followed by the migration of the fibroblasts into the myocardium and their replication. The activation of both NPR_A and NPR_B receptors through ANP and BNP, respectively, controls the inflammation process and inhibits the fibroblast-migration and replication. (28)

1.2. Midregional pro-A-type natriuretic peptide

The original form of the ANP released in atria is a prohormone (proANP). This polypeptide consists of 126 amino acids and is in its nature susceptible to fragmentation. The mature atrial natriuretic peptide (ANP), a 28-amino acids polypeptide, represents a smaller part of the whole proANP molecule, and has a short half-life (2 to 5 minutes). On the other hand, the N-terminal portion of proANP (NT-proANP), comprises the larger portion of proANP with its 98 amino acids, with a much longer half-life than mature ANP (40 to 60 minutes) and therefore poses as more reliable analyte for clinical routine measurement (4). (Graph 4)



Graph 4: Structure of the proANP with the location of the mid-regional section (Morgenthaler et al. 2004)

The sandwich immunoassays developed for proANP employ an antibody against the N-terminal region of proANP (1–52 amino acids) combined with a second antibody against the mid-region of pro ANP (amino acids 53-90). (29, 30) However, under certain conditions, the N-terminal region provides an impaired antibody binding (31, 32), despite its long half-life. This could be due to its innate proneness to fragmentation. (33, 34) However, the mid-region of pro ANP (known as mid-regional proANP), a polypeptide with 38 amino acids (53-90) proved to provide a stable antibody binding, allowing accurate immunoassay measurements.

Utilizing this property of mid-regional proANP (mr-proANP), a sandwich immunoassay (B.R.A.H.M.S SERISTRA[®], B.R.A.H.M.S AG) was developed, targeting only the mr-proANP for an antibody biding. Therefore, the mr-proANP was established as biomarker in the clinical routine-providing the stabile and reliable determination of the ANP plasma levels. (9)

1.3 Acute Coronary Syndrome

Acute coronary syndrome (ACS) is a set of signs and symptoms occurring due to an impaired perfusion of the coronary arteries, subsequently leading to the dysfunction or the necrosis of the heart muscle (myocardium). (35) The cardinal symptom of critically impaired myocardium perfusion is chest pain, experienced as tightness around or over the chest, occasionally radiating to the left arm and the left angle of the jaw, sometimes accompanied with vegetative symptomatic: nausea, sweating (diaphoresis) and shortness of breath (dyspnoe). In a large portion of patients, the symptoms present as "atypical", with different qualitative and quantitative onset of pain, or pain being completely absent, with dyspnea being the leading symptom. This atypical symptomatology is more likely to occur in female and older patient as well as the patient with diabetes mellitus. (36)

Chest pain can also be the common leading symptom in brady- or tachycardia, hypertensive crisis, severe aortic valve stenosis, pulmonary artery hypertension, severe anemia and multiple other conditions.

Clinical Classification of Acute Coronary Syndrome

Regarding the acute treatment concept i.e. reperfusion therapy, the diagnostic golden standard is the allocation of the patients with ACS to three clinical entities: ST elevation myocardial infarction (STE-ACS), non-ST elevation myocardial infarction (NSTE-ACS) or unstable angina (UA). (37)

Patients with chest discomfort or other ischemic symptoms, who develop new ST-segment elevations in two contiguous leads or new bundle branch blocks with ischemic repolarization patterns, are designated as an STE-ACS.

Patients without ST-segment elevation at presentation, yet with the rise of circulating troponin levels above the 99th percentile are usually designated as NSTE-ACS.

Patients with stabile angina experiencing sudden new-onset of angina pectoris symptoms, often at rest or with minimal exertion, or at lesser degrees of exertion than the individual's previous angina ("crescendo angina") without ST-segment elevation at presentation and without the rise of circulating troponin levels above the 99th percentile are diagnosed as UA. UA should be distinguished from stable angina, which develops during physical activity or stress and resolves at rest.

The categories of patients with STE-ACS and NSTE-ACS are regularly included in the concept of Myocardial Infarction (MI). Furthermore, the categories of patients with STE-ACS, NSTE-ACS, or unstable angina are customarily included in the concept of ACS. (37)

Types of myocardial Infarction according to the Fourth Universal Definition of myocardial infarction

In addition to the clinical classification of ACS/MI, another classification based on etiology, pathogenesis, clinical, and prognostic differences, along with different treatment strategies allocates the ACS/MI into various types. (37)

Type 1 MI is caused by atherothrombotic coronary artery disease (CAD) and commonly facilitated by the rupture or erosion of the atherosclerotic plaque in the coronary artery. The lesion is labeled as "culprit" and could have varying degrees of atherosclerosis and thrombosis burden with thrombotic component leading to distal coronary embolization resulting in myocardial necrosis. (38, 39)

Typ 2 MI is determined by the pathophysiological mechanism leading to ischemic myocardial injury due to a mismatch between oxygen supply and oxygen demand in the myocardial tissue. (40, 41). By definition, acute atherothrombotic plaque disruption is not the cause of type 2 MI. In patients with stable CAD, an acute impairment factor such as an acute gastrointestinal bleeding, sustained tachyarrhythmia, and hypertensive crisis may result in myocardial injury and a type 2 MI. This occurs due to dysfunctional myocardial perfusion failing to compensate the increased myocardial oxygen demand. The occurrence of the impaired demand/supply ratio with subsequent myocardial injury varies among the patients with CAD and depends on the properties of the impairment factor, presence of non-cardiac comorbidities, CAD severity scale and cardiac structural abnormalities.

Type 3 MI is defined as typical presentation of myocardial ischemia/infarction symptoms, including ischemic ECG changes or ventricular fibrillation, with death occurring before it is possible to obtain blood for cardiac biomarker determination; or the patient dies promptly after the onset of symptoms before an elevation of biomarker values has occurred i.e. the suspicion of an acute myocardial ischemic event is high, even when cardiac biomarker evidence of MI is lacking. (40, 41)

Type 4 MI is the percutaneous coronary intervention (PCI) related MI that occurs during a PCI procedure or is related to in-stent restenosis, or restenosis following balloon angioplasty in the infarct territory i.e. the PCI is the only plausible explanation for the MI since no other culprit lesion or thrombus can be identified. (37)

Type 5 MI is Coronary artery bypass grafting (CABG) related MI with numerous factors that may lead to procedural myocardial injury during a CABG. These factors are related to the details of the cardiac preservation, the extent of the direct traumatic injury to the myocardium, as well as any potential ischemic injury. (37)

1.4 Role of mr-proANP/ANP in diagnosis and treatment of acute and chronic heart failure

Current European Society of Cardiology (ESC) guidelines for the diagnosis and treatment of acute and chronic heart failure indicate that the plasma concentration of natriuretic peptides, mr-proANP and BNP/NT-proBNP, are to be used as an initial diagnostic test when echocardiography is not immediately available (Class I, Level A Recommendation). (42) Upon presentation of the patients with acute dyspnoe and suspected AHF a measurement of plasma natriuretic peptide level (BNP, NT-proBNP or MR-proANP) is recommended to help in the differentiation of AHF from non-cardiac causes of acute dyspnoe. Elevated NPs facilitate an initial working diagnosis, identifying those who are in need of further cardiac investigation. Furthermore, patients with natriuretic peptide levels below the cutoff for the exclusion of important cardiac dysfunction do not require echocardiography. The cutoff for a diagnosis of acute HF for mr-proANP is recommended at 120 pmol/L. The upper limit of normal in the acute setting for B-type natriuretic peptide (BNP) is 100 pg/mL and for N-terminal pro-BNP (NT-proBNP) it is 300 pg/mL. On the other hand, patients with normal plasma NP levels are unlikely to have heart failure. (42)

Diagnostic values of both mr-proANP as well as BNP/NT-proBNP, apply similarly to HF with reduced ejection fraction (HFrEF) and HF with preserved ejection fraction (HFpEF). Furthermore, their median values are lower for HFpEF than for HFrEF. (43, 44) At the above mentioned recommended thresholds of 120 pmol/L, mr-proANP has a sensitivity ranging from 0.95 (range 0.90-0.98) to 0.97 (0.95-0.98) and a negative predictive value ranging from 0.90 (0.80-0.96) to 0.97 (0.96-0.98). (43, 45-50) At the recommended threshold of 100 ng/L for BNP and 300 ng/L for NT-proBNP, the natriuretic peptides have sensitivities of 0.95 (95% CI, 0.93 to 0.96) and 0.99 (95% CI, 0.97 to 1.00) and negative predictive values of 0.94 (0.90 to 0.96) and 0.98 (0.89 to 1.0), respectively, for a diagnosis of acute heart failure. Therefore, the use of NPs is recommended for ruling-out HF, but not to establish the diagnosis i.e. for the rule-in diagnostic algorhytmus of HF.

There are numerous cardiovascular and non-cardiovascular causes of elevated NPs that may weaken their diagnostic utility in HF. Among them atrial fibrillation, age and renal failure are the most important factors impairing the interpretation of NP measurements. (44) On the other hand, NP levels may be disproportionally low in obese patients. (51)

Neprilysin inhibitor-Sacubitril-as part of ARNI

As mentioned neprilysin, also called neutral endopeptidase (NEP), is an enzyme responsible for degrading the ANP and BNP molecule, resulting in its rapid clearance. This yields a short half-life of ANP in human plasma (2 min).

A new therapeutic class of agents acting on the RAAS and the neprilysin has been developed. They are called angiotensin receptor/neprilysin inhibitor (ARNI).

The first medication in class is LCZ696 agent (52), registered since 2015 as Entresto[®] (EPAR summary for the public; Entresto EMA/782147/2015; European Medicines Agency, 2015). Entresto[®] is a molecule that combines the portions of valsartan (angiotensin-1(AT1)-receptor inhibitor) and sacubitril (neprilysin inhibitor) in a single substance. By inhibiting neprilysin, the degradation of NPs, bradykinin and other peptides is hindered.

High circulating levels of ANP and BNP exert physiologic effects through binding to NP receptors and the augmented generation of cGMP, thereby enhancing diuresis, natriuresis and myocardial relaxation and anti-remodeling. ANP and BNP also inhibit renin and aldosterone secretion. Selective AT1-receptor blockade reduces vasoconstriction, sodium and water retention and myocardial hypertrophy. (52, 53, 54)

PARADIGM-HF trial investigated the long-term effects of sacubitril/valsartan compared with an ACE inhibitor (enalapril) on morbidity and mortality in patients with ambulatory, symptomatic HFrEF with LVEF \leq 35%, elevated plasma NP levels (BNP \geq 150 pg/mL or NT-proBNP \geq 600 pg/mL or, if they had been hospitalized for HF within the previous 12 months, BNP \geq 100 pg/mL or NT-proBNP \geq 400 pg/mL), and an estimated GFR (eGFR) \geq 30 mL/min/1.73 m² of body surface area, who were able to tolerate separate treatments periods with enalapril (10 mg b.i.d.) and sacubitril/valsartan (97/103 mg b.i.d.) during a run-in period. (52)

In this population, sacubitril/valsartan (97/103 mg b.i.d.) was superior to ACEI (enalapril 10mg b.i.d.) in reducing hospitalizations for worsening HF, cardiovascular mortality and overall mortality. (52)

1.5 Clinical importance of mr-proANP/ANP as biomarker

As above described, the secretion of ANP occurs in response to atrial distension, hypervolemia, increased peripheral vascular resistance and raising levels of Angiotensin-II and other vasoconstrictors. (55) However, ANP is released in the ventricles as well, in response to hemodynamic stress induced by increased afterload (aortic stenosis, hypertension) or myocardial injury (myocardial infarction). ACS leads to impairment of myocardial relaxation and contractility, to myocardial wall stress, further to changes in systolic and diastolic function, thereby triggering the immediate secretion of natriuretic peptides (both ANP and BNP). The ANP secretion arises as an instant response to transient myocardial ischemia, even before myocardial necrosis in ACS occurs, and reaches its peek 3.7±0.4 hours after onset of symptoms. (56)

Data from previous studies demonstrated that plasma levels of ANP in patients with congestive heart failure and acute myocardial infarction are strong predictors of mortality, regardless of troponin levels, extent of kidney dysfunction or left ventricular performance. (57-63)

Data from the Leicester Acute Myocardial Infarction Peptide (LAMP) Study suggested that plasma mrproANP concentrations, measured 3-5 days after the onset of ischemic symptoms, have strong prognostic potential comparable to that of plasma N-terminal proBNP (NT-proBNP). (60) Furthermore, a subgroup analysis of the APACE study demonstrated strong prediction value of mrproANP for 360-day mortality/AMI, linearly correlating with mr-proANP quartiles (61). In addition, this study put forward the idea of utilization of mr-proANP together with hs-cTn in early rule-out of AMI. Although, the study claimed no significant diagnostic merit of mr-proANP regarding AMI diagnostics, it had several limitations and failed to demonstrate the diagnostic yield of mr-proANP for rapid exclusion of NSTE-ACS.

1.6 Clinical importance of cardiac troponin as biomarker

Cardiac troponin I (cTnI) and T (cTnT) compose the contractile structure of the myocardial cells and can be found almost exclusively in myocardium. (64-66) The rise of cTnI levels in blood are unknown to happen following the injury of non-cardiac tissues. Increase in the values of cTnT rarely occurs in skeletal muscle injury. Due to its fairly high specificity for myocardial cells and favorable sensitivity for the myocardial injury, cTnI and cTnT are the preferred biomarkers and the golden standard for the evaluation (44, 65-67) and diagnostic of MI. In terms of diagnosing a MI, other biomarkers like (CK-MB) provide both, less sensitivity and specificity. (68) Myocardial injury is defined as being present when blood levels of cTn are increased above the 99th percentile upper reference limit (URL). (44, 65-67) The injury may be acute, as evidenced by the dynamic rising and/or falling pattern of cTn values above the 99th percentile URL, or chronic, in the setting of persistently elevated cTn levels.

Although elevated cTn values reflect injury to myocardial cells, they do not indicate the underlying pathophysiological mechanisms of the injury and can be detected in the normal heart after a preload-induced mechanical stretch or physiological stress. (69-71) However, regardless of the mechanism, acute myocardial injury, when associated with a rising and/or falling pattern of cTn values with at least one above the 99th percentile URL and caused by myocardial ischemia, is designated as an acute MI. (44, 65-67)

The myocardial injury with myocyte death occurs also in clinical conditions associated with nonischemic mechanisms of myocardial injury. These conditions can be cardiac: heart failure, myocarditis, cardiomyopathy, Takotsubo syndrome, catheter ablation, defibrillator shocks, and cardiac contusion and systematic: sepsis, infectious disease, chronic kidney disease, stroke, subarachnoid hemorrhage, pulmonary embolism, pulmonary hypertension, infiltrative diseases (amyloidosis, sarcoidosis, etc.), chemotherapeutic agents, critically ill patients. Major shortcoming of cardiac troponin is its incapability to generally detect an Acute Coronary Syndrome (ACS) in the early hours after symptom onset, due to the delayed increase of its circulating levels after the actual ACS occurrence ('silent Troponin time' phenomenon). (72)

1.7 Current Biomarker Algorithms in Diagnosis of NSTE-ACS

The ESC guidelines (73, 74) as well as the Biomarker Study Group of the ECS (75-77) suggested the new algorithms for NSTE-ACS diagnosis, recommending high-sensitivity assays over less sensitive ones based on the ratio of the higher sensitivity and diagnostic accuracy of these assays for the detection of acute MI at presentation. Hence, the time interval to the second cardiac troponin assessment in patients with baseline values under the cutoff or under LoD can be shortened when using these assays. This seems to substantially reduce the delay to diagnosis, translating into shorter stays in the emergency department and lower costs. (78-81) Two rule-out algorithms are suggested, depending of the assay being used. It is recommended to use the 0 h/1 h algorithm (best option, blood draw at 0 h and 1 h) or the 0 h/2 h algorithm (second best option, blood draw at 0 h and 2 h). These have been derived and well-validated in large multi-center diagnostic studies using central adjudication of the final diagnosis for all currently available hs-cTn assays. (82-87)

They are based on the results of several large validation cohorts (75, 76, 88-96), which demonstrated NPV for NSTE-ACS that exceeded 98%. Optimal thresholds for rule-in were selected to allow for a minimal positive predictive value (PPV) of 70%. According to ESC guidelines, as an alternative, 0 h/3 h algorithm should be considered. (97) Furthermore, in daily clinical routine the algorithm with additional 6h-retesting (0h/3h/6h), recommended when conventional troponin assays are used, is being widely utilized. (75)

Aside from abovementioned caveats in utilization of assays of the highest sensitivity ('early presenters' and 'late raisers') these new algorithms are assay-specific, as well as their proposed cut-offs and delta values.

1.8 The Dual Biomarker Concept

Thus far, copeptin is the only biomarker proven to be suitable for routine clinical utilization as a part of a dual-biomarker strategy in NSTE-ACS rule-out. Similar to mr-proANP, copeptin is an unspecific, high-sensitive biomarker of a low-specificity that unlike mr-pro-ANP arises in the brain instead the heart. (98) The dual biomarker strategy using either copeptin (99) or, as in our case, mr-proANP in addition to cardiac troponin may enable a timely NSTE-ACS rule-out and simultaneously limit itself to only one blood draw at admission. It is, however, not clear to date whether copeptin or mr-pro-ANP perform better in association with cTn in order to rule-out an underlying NSTE-ACS at the earliest convenience. Further studies directly comparing the diagnostic yield of both biomarkers in combination with cardiac troponin are required.

2. Methods

2.1. Study population

Patients who presented to the emergency room (ER) with symptoms suggestive of an ACS were recruited in the study. The study was single-center and was conducted in Wilhelminen Hospital of the City of Vienna. These symptoms were classified as: chest pain, dyspnea and other atypical or mixed symptoms that might be caused by an ACS. Atypical symptoms were: epigastric pain, nausea, palpitations, inner anxiety and cold sweat. Mixed symptoms were defined as combination of symptoms were chest pain or dyspnea were associated with atypical symptoms whereby a clear leading symptom couldn't have been differentiated.

Patients with a life expectancy below six months or presenting in cardiogenic shock were not eligible for participation in this study. Furthermore, patients admitted with STE-ACS were excluded from the analysis, as the primary diagnosis of these patients is based on the findings of the electrocardiogram (ECG) instead of biomarker assessments.

The emergency room of Wilhelminen Hospital has approximately 80,000 cases each year which makes this ER a high-volume one.

2.2. Study procedures

Patients were recruited early after admission and blood was drawn at initial presentation to the ER. Blood samples were processed timely and processing steps and times were documented in a standardized protocol. Blood was processed on site and biomarker measurements were performed immediately. After measurement, the blood was stored in a blood bank by processing on ice and then frozen in aliquots at -80°C. The recruitment of the patients in the study occurred from January till November 2013.

2.3. Biomarker testing

Mr-proANP was measured directly in EDTA plasma using the mr-proANP sandwich immunoassay (B.R.A.H.M.S. SERISTRA®) on the Kryptor device (Thermofisher Scientific, Berlin, Germany). This assay has a limit of detection (LOD) of 2.1 pmol/L. The median mr-proANP value of a normal reference population is 46.1 pmol/L and the 97.5th percentile is 85.2 pmol/L according to manufacturer's information. The functional assay sensitivity (20% coefficient of variation) is below 10 pmol/L and the limit of quantification (LOQ) is 4.5 pmol/L. Troponin I was measured using the high-sensitive troponin

I assay of the penultimate generation (Siemens Dimension EXL) with the 99th percentile of a normal reference population at 56 ng/L, 10% coefficient of variation and the LOQ at 17 ng/L.

As the troponin I assays of the highest sensitivity i.e. ultimate generation (e.g. hs-cTnI Abbott Architect or hs-cTnI Siemens Dimension Vista) already exist, in purpose of differentiating the assay generations, we referred to the assay used in this study as the sensitive cardiac troponin I assay (s-cTnI). The assay used in our study was approved by the US Food and Drug Administration in 2013 (Clearance Number K130276).

Although the sensitive and high-sensitive assays are to great extent established as the standard in Europe, outside Europe and particularly in USA, conventional troponin assays are still being widely utilized in clinical practice. Furthermore, nearly no point-of-care cTn assays meet the criteria for s-cTn or hs-cTn, respectively. (95)

2.4. Endpoints

The primary endpoint of this analysis was the rule-out of NSTE-ACS, both type-1 and type-2, in a cohort of patient presenting with symptoms suggestive of an ACS in the ER. The diagnosis of type-1 and type-2 infarction was based on the Third and Fourth Definition of Myocardial Infarction. (37, 41) In addition, the diagnosis of type-1 infarction was based on the gold standard diagnostic procedure i.e. coronary angiography. Patients without coronary-related myocardial necrosis i.e. with type-2 infarction were differentially diagnosed by standard clinical evaluation for other, none-coronary, reasons that led to s-cTnl increase.

2.5. Statistics

Categorical variables are shown as relative (%) and absolute (n) frequencies, numeric variables as median and inter quartile ranges (IQR). Statistical significance of categorical variables was computed by Chi-Square test, for numeric variables non-parametric Mann-Whitney test was used for comparison of two groups and Kruskal-Wallis test for more than two groups due to skewed distribution. A p-value of below 0.05 was considered statistically significant. The overall discriminatory ability of biomarkers was assessed by the area under the receiver operating characteristics curve (AUROC).

Sensitivity and specificity were calculated at predefined cut-off values: for mr-proANP, the 97.5th percentile (85.2 pmol/L) and for the troponin assay the 99th percentile of a healthy reference population (56.0 ng/L for s-cTnI) was used. As a measure of uncertainty, 95% confidence Intervals (CI) were calculated when appropriate. All computations were performed in SPSS (Statistical Package for Social Science; IBM).

2.6. Data processing

All data were stored and processed electronically. To verify accuracy of the data, it underwent the range, validity and consistency checks. Implausible or missing data were corrected or added after consulting the hospital documents and attending physicians. Documentation for these corrections was stored with the CRFs. All validated data were stored in the eCRF. After termination of the study and after completion of all entries, the database was closed (frozen) for further entries. This process has been documented.

All patient data were saved under a pseudonym. The study software automatically generated a pseudonym for every new patient. The pseudonym for new patients could be typed into the study software. A document regarding a precise patient allocation was printed and kept in a safe place. The author had the main role in recruiting of the patients. Every patient signed a consent form document.

2.7. Ethical considerations

The study was conducted in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki and approved by the Ethic Committee of the City of Vienna (EK 13-161-VK).

2.8. Scientific hypothesis

In our prospective, single-center cohort study, we hypothesized the beneficiary effect of a dual biomarker concept: mr-proANP, a biomarker with raising levels within the scope of myocardial ischemia and cTnI, a well-established biomarker of myocardial necrosis, diagnostically less conclusive in patients presenting to the emergency room early after onset of symptoms. We intended to utilize this combined measurement for early exclusion of NSTE-ACS, i.e. timely, prompt, reliable rule-out of NSTE-ACS.

3. Results

3.1. Patients' characteristics

In total, 311 consecutive patients were included in the study. The median age of the study population was 63 years (IQR: 24.9). The majority of patients was female (n=171, 54.9%). Women had higher median value of mr-proANP 98.2 pmol/l (IQR: 130.5) than men with mr-proANP median value of 78.11 pmol/l (IQR: 99.6). Nevertheless, there was no significant difference between the gender (p=0.91). (Figure 1)



Figure 1: Boxplot representing the mr-proANP values of patients according to sex

There was a strong and significant correlation between the increasing age of the patients and increasing mr-proANP levels. The coefficient of correlation (Spearman) between mr-proANP and age was significant at 0.637 (p<0.0001). Nevertheless, the stratification of the mr-proANP levels depending on sex and age demonstrated no significant difference within the age/sex groups. (Table 1)

	Age group								
	< 40 years		41-60 years		61-80 years		> 80 years		
sex	male	female	male	female	male	female	male	female	
n	12	23	43	75	48	56	37	17	
Median (pmol/L)	41.9	49.2	58.8	48.9	96.1	112.9	231.3	157.1	
IQR (pmol/L)	53.8	38.5	74.4	95.8	156.9	100.8	182.5	155.0	
p value	value 0.85		0.92		0.77		0.47		

Table 1: Midregional proANP in study patients stratified by age and gender

For detailed information on patient characteristics allocated according to mr-proANP quartiles, see Table 2.

	All patients	mr-proANP	mr-proANP	mr-proANP	mr-proANP				
		1 st Quartile	2 nd Quartile	3 rd Quartile	4 th Quartile				
	n=311	n=79	n=77	n=78	n=77	p value			
Male sex, n (%)	140 (45.1%)	28 (35.4%)	37 (48.5%)	33 (42.3%)	42 (54.5%)	0.154			
Age, years (median, IQR)	63.0 (24.9)	48.6 (62.9)	55.9 (42.0)	68.1 (64.8)	77.5 (69.1)	<0.0001			
Risk factors									
Diabetes mellitus, n (%)	76 (24.4%)	11 (13.9%)	16 (20.8%)	21 (26.9%)	28 (36.4%)	0.062			
Hypertension, n (%)	221 (71.1%)	37 (46.8%)	49 (63.6%)	69 (88.5%)	66 (85.7%)	<0.001			

Hyperlipidemia, n (%)	137 (44.1%)	21 (26.6%)	35 (45.4%)	39 (50.0%)	42 (54.5%)	0.836			
Family history of CAD, n (%)	43 (13.8%)	17 (21.5%)	17 (22.1%)	6 (7.7%)	3 (3.9%)	<0.001			
Smoking, n (%)	113 (36.3%)	32 (40.5%)	35 (45.4%)	27 (34.6%)	19 (24.7%)	0.106			
			Vital signs						
BMI, kg/m ² (median, IQR)	27.7 (7)	29.2 (22.0)	27.3 (20.9)	26.3 (21.1)	27.7 (19.1)	0.042			
systolic BP, in mmHg	146 (32)	148 (67)	137.5 (95)	150 (113)	152 (145)	0.29			
diastolic BP, in mmHg	78 (20)	83 (39)	76 (40)	76 (56)	78 (78)	0.65			
Heart rate, bpm	74 (23)	75 (40)	72 (41)	68 (52)	83 (105)	<0.001			
		I	Medical History		L				
Heart failure, n (%)	37 (11.9%)	3 (3.8%)	5 (6.5%)	11 (14.1%)	18 (23.4%)	<0.001			
PAD, n (%)	26 (8.4%)	5 (6.3%)	4 (5.2%)	7 (8.9%)	10 (12.9%)	0.195			
TIA/Stroke, n (%)	22 (7.1%)	3 (3.8%)	3 (3.9%)	8 (10.3%)	8 (10.4%)	0.132			
Renal disease, n (%)	23 (7.4%)	1 (1.3%)	2 (2.6%)	5 (6.4%)	15 (19.5%)	<0.001			
CAD, n (%)	107 (34.4%)	16 (20.2%)	20 (25.9%)	31 (39.7%)	40 (51.9%)	<0.001			
Prior MI, n (%)	63 (20.2%)	8 (10.1%)	11 (14.3%)	19 (24.3%)	25 (32.4%)	0.002			
GRACE score (median, IQR)	95 (54)	70 (47)	82 (30)	108 (32)	131 (51)	<0.001			
Procedures									
prior CABG, n (%)	13 (4.2%)	1 (1.3%)	3 (3.9%)	2 (2.6%)	7 (9.1%)	0.309			
prior PCI, n (%)	79 (25.4%)	12 (15.2%)	13 (16.9%)	27 (34.6%)	27 (35.1%)	0.005			

Table 2: Patients' characteristics in subgroups based on the initial mr-proANP values (quartiles)

Regarding the differences in mr-proANP levels depending on the medication that patients had as permanent home treatment there was no significance between the quartile-subgroups of the mrproANP. For detailed information on patients' medication at time of presention to ER allocated according to mr-proANP quartiles, see Table 3.

Medication at presention	Frequency (n/%)	mr- proANP 1 st Quartile	mr- proANP 2 st Quartile	mr- proANP 3 st Quartile	mr- proANP 4 st Quartile	p value
Aspirin, n (%)	107 (34.4%)	32 (29.9%)	20 (18.7%)	26 (24.3%)	29 (27.1%)	0.47
P2Y ₁₂ -inhibitors, n (%)	32 (10.3%)	11 (34.4%)	6 (18.8%)	5 (15.6%)	10 (31.2%)	0.34
Beta-blocker, n (%)	125 (40.2%)	32 (25.6%)	29 (23.2%)	32 (25.6%)	32 (25.6%)	0.96
ACE inhibitors/AT ₁ -antagonists, n (%)	148 (47.6%)	35 (23.6%)	38 (25.7%)	39 (26.3%)	36 (24.4%)	0.97
Aldosteron-antagonists, n (%)	7 (2.3%)	3 (42.8%)	0	1 (14.4%)	3 (42.8%)	0.44
Calcium channel blockers, n (%)	71 (22.8%)	20 (28.2%)	15 (21.1%)	21 (29.6%)	15 (21.1%)	0.71
Amiodaron, n (%)	5 (1.6%)	0	1 (20.0%)	1 (20.0%)	3 (60%)	0.43
Loop diuretics, n (%)	34 (10.9%)	12 (35.3%)	4 (11.7%)	9 (26.5%)	9 (26.5%)	0.24
Thiazide, n (%)	66 (21.2%)	22 (33.3%)	12 (18.3%)	16 (24.2%)	16 (24.2%)	0.42
Oral anticoagulants, n (%)	20 (6.4%)	5 (25.0%)	3 (15.0%)	4 (20.0%)	8 (40.0%)	0.76
Oral antidiabetics, n (%)	51 (16.4%)	17 (33.3%)	9 (17.7%)	17 (33.3%)	8 (15.7%)	0.21

Table 3: Diagnoses of patients' medication at time of presention allocated according to mr-proANP values (quartiles)

Of the total patient cohort, n=55/311 (17.6%) had increased levels of s-cTnI either already at presentation (n = 42) or 3 h after presentation (n = 13). Thirty patients (9.6% of the cohort) had an angiographically confirmed diagnosis of type-1 infarction (all of them received PCI and stent implantation) and n=25 (8.0%) had type-2 infarction as confirmed by coronary angiography (n = 21) or clinical evaluation only (n=4). Causes for type-2 NSTE-ACS were acute heart failure (n=9), arrhythmias (n = 4), pulmonary embolism (n = 2), myocarditis (n = 2), hypertensive crisis (n = 1), perimyocarditis (n = 1) and other cardiac conditions (n = 6), respectively.

	All patients	mr-proANP < 97.5 th percentile	mr-proANP ≥ 97.5 th percentile	p value
	n=311	n=160	n=151	
Chronic CAD, n (%)	107 (34.4%)	36 (22.5%)	71 (47.0%)	<0.0001
NSTE-ACS type-1, n (%)	30 (9.6%)	10 (6.2%)	20 (13.2%)	0.068
NSTE-ACS type-2, n (%)	25 (8%)	6 (3.7%)	19 (12.6%)	0.09
Acute heart failure, (n) %	18 (5.8%)	3 (1.8%)	15 (9.9%)	<0.0001
Arrhythmia, n (%)	43 (13.8%)	14 (8.7%)	29 (19.2%)	<0.001
Hypertensive crisis, n (%)	30 (9.6%)	15 (9.4%)	15 (9.4%)	ns
COPD/asthma, n (%)	26 (8.4%)	11 (6.8%)	15 (9.9%)	ns
Non-cardiac chest pain, n (%)	118 (37.9%)	84 (52.5%)	34(22.5%)	<0.0001
Non-cardiac disease, n (%)	214 (68.8%)	126 (78.7%)	88 (58.3%)	<0.001

Table 4: Diagnoses of all patients stratified by mr-proANP value. The cut-off for positive and negative classification is the97.5th percentile of the mr-proANP assay (85.2 pmol/l; BRAHMS Thermofisher Scientific).

The most frequent diagnoses in the total study cohort were non-cardiac chest pain (n=118, 37.9%), arrhythmia (n=43, 13.8%), hypertensive crisis (n=30, 9.6%), COPD/asthma (n=26, 8.4%), type-1 NSTE-ACS (n=30, 9.6%), and type-2 NSTE-ACS (n=25, 8.0%), respectively.

In the entire patient cohort, 259 (83.3%) patients presented to the ER with characteristic chest pain, 20 (6.4%) had dyspnea only and 9 (2.9%) had atypical symptoms and 23 (7.4%) mixed symptoms. Median value for symptom onset time (SOT) until blood collection was 151 min (IQR: 336.3). The very early presenters' group i.e. patients presenting within 2 h after symptom onset represented (n=68/311) 21.9% of the overall study population; (n=243/311) 78.1% presented ≥ 2 h after symptom onset, of which (n=44/243) 18.1% presented between 3 and 4 h, (n=19/243) 7.8% between 5 and 6 h, and (n=180/243) 74.1% between 7 and 24 h after symptom onset.

3.2. Biomarkers

In this study population the median mr-proANP-value was 82.1 pmol/l (IQR: 113.8). Patients with type-1 NSTE-ACS had a median mr-proANP value of 174.1 pmol/l (IQR: 240.8) and for patients with type-2 NSTE-ACS median mr-proANP value was at 226.2 pmol/L (IQR: 349). Mr-proANP levels in both NSTE-ACS types were higher compared to patients with other diagnosis (73.6 pmol/l; IQR: 91 pmol/l; p=0.02 and p<0.001; **Figure 2**). There was no significant difference between the mr-proANP levels in patients with NSTE-ACS type-1 and type 2 (p=0.28). Half of the patient cohort (n=151, 48.6%) had initially elevated mr-proANP-values above the 97.5th percentile of a normal reference population. Of these patients, 20/151 (13.2%) had a final diagnosis of type-1 infarction and 19/151 (12.6%) the final diagnosis of type-2. The frequency of other diagnoses in all patients and stratified by the initial mr-proANP test result are illustrated in **Table 4**.

The initial troponin I value was above the 99th percentile of a healthy reference population in 42/311 (13.5%) patients. After the second Troponin measurement performed 3 hours after the initial, additional 13 patient had hs-cTnI levels above the 99th percentile.

The proportion of patients with initial s-cTnI levels above the cutoff was comparable in patients with type-1 NSTE-ACS (n=22; 73.3%) and type-2 NSTE-ACS (n=20; 80%) (p=0.508). Furthermore, the portion of the patients with mr-proANP levels above cutoff was significantly higher in type-1 NSTE-ACS (n=20; 66.7% vs. n=112; 43.8%, p=0.04) and type-2 NSTE-ACS patients (n=19; 76% vs. n=112; 43.8%, p=0.037) than in patient with other diagnoses (n=112; 43.8%). The frequency of other diagnoses stratified by the initial Troponin I and mr-proANP values are illustrated in **Table 5**. In patients with initial s-cTnI values below the 99th percentile of a healthy reference population, the prevalence of type-1 NSTE-ACS was 8/256 (3.1%) and 5/256 (1.9%) for type-2 NSTE-ACS. In this subgroup of initially s-cTnI negative patients with type-1 NSTE-ACS, 7/8 (87.5%) patients had elevated mr-proANP values at admission and only one patient with type-1 infarction was tested false negative for both biomarkers. In the type-2 NSTE-ACS subgroup 3/5 (60%) patients had elevated mr-proANP levels and 2/5 (40%) patients were false negative for the biomarker combination.



Figure 2: Boxplot representing the mr-proANP values of patients with type-1 and type-2 NSTE-ACS as compared to patients with other diagnoses in the study population.

	All patients	mr-proANP < 97.5 th	mr-proANP < 97.5 th percentile	mr-proANP > 97.5 th percentile	mr-proANP > 97.5 th percentile
	n=311	percentile &	&	&	& Troponin
		Troponin < 99 th	Troponin > 99 th	Troponin < 99 th	>99 th
	20 (0 (0()	n=147	n=13	n=122	n=29
n (%)	30 (9.6%)	1 (0.7%)	9 (69.2%)	7 (5.7%)	13 (44.8%)
NSTE-ACS type-2, n (%)	25 (8%)	2 (1.4%)	4 (30.1%)	3 (2.4%)	16 (55.2%)
Acute heart failure, n (%)	9 (2.9%)	2 (1.4%)	0	7 (5.7%)	0
Arrhythmia, n (%)	43 (13.8%)	14 (9.5%)	0	27 (22.1%)	2 (6.9%)
Hypertensive crisis, n (%)	30 (9.6%)	15 (10.2%)	0	15 (12.3%)	0
COPD/asthma, n (%)	26 (8.4%)	11 (7.5%)	0	15 (12.3%)	0
Non-cardiac chest pain, n (%)	118 (37.9%)	84 (57.1%)	0	34 (27.9%)	0
Non-cardiac disease, n (%)	214 (68.8%)	126 (85.7%)	0	88 (72.1%)	0

Table 5: Diagnoses of all patients stratified by mr-proANP and troponin I values. The cut-off for positive and negative classification is the 97.5th percentile of the mr-proANP assay (85.2 pmol/l; BRAHMS Thermofisher Scientific) and 99th percentile of troponin I assay (56ng/l; Siemens Dimension EXL).

The median GRACE score for the study population was 95 (IQR: 53), for type-1 NSTE-ACS 109 (IQR: 46) and for type-2 NSTE-ACS 140 (IQR: 85). Mr-proANP levels correlated with an increasing GRACE score: patients in the 4th quartile of mr-proANP (>161 pmol/L) exhibited a median GRACE score of 129 (IQR: 46) and were at an intermediate to high-risk for in-hospital death and 6-month death post-discharge. The coefficient of correlation (Spearman) between mr-proANP and the GRACE score was significant at 0.626 (p<0.001). (**Figure 3**)



Figure 3: Dot-plot demonstrating the correlation between mr-proANP levels and GRACE Score in overall study population

In relation to renal function, mr-proANP levels demonstrated strong correlation with increased levels of creatinine i.e. the increased impairment of the renal function was closely associated with higher mr-proANP levels. This interrelation was also confirmed throughout the stages of the renal dysfunction according to KDIGO (Kidney Disease: Improving Global Outcomes (KDIGO)) classification. (**Figure 4**). There were no patients in the study cohort that had terminally impaired renal function i.e. GFR<15 ml/min, therefore there were no stage 5 (KDIGO) patients. Furthermore, the coefficient of correlation (Spearman) between mr-proANP and creatinine levels was significant at 0.261 (p<0.0001).



Figure 4: Mr-proANP median levels stratified according to KDIGO stages of renal dysfunction

In relation to SOT, release kinetic of mr-proANP in type-1 NSTE-ACS patients showed its immediate increase of >3.5-fold above cutoff within 2 h after symptom onset with a median value of 289.2 pmol/L (IQR: 66.8) and reached its peak at 5-6 h after symptom onset with a median of 369.7 pmol/L (IQR: 324.5). For patients with type-2 NSTE-ACS, mr-proANP demonstrated an immediate increase of over 3-fold above cutoff within 2 h SOT (median at 236.5; IQR: 277.6) and reached its peak at 3-4 h SOT with median at 392.6 pmol/L (IQR: 770.6). Patients without NSTE-ACS showed stable mr-proANP values at 73.6 pmol/L (IQR: 91.1) (**Figure 5**).



Figure 5: mr-proANP-levels in relation to symptom onset time stratified by patients with and without type-1 and type-2

NSTE-ACS

The area under the receiver operating characteristic (AUROC) curve of s-cTnl for the diagnosis of type-1 NSTE-ACS was 0.903 (95%-CI: 0.836–0.970) and 0.642 (95%-CI: 0.525–0.760) for mr-proANP. The combination of both, s-cTnl and mr-proANP, resulted in a lower c-statistic with an AUROC of 0.827 (95%-CI: 0.744–0.911) (**Figure 6**).



Figure 6: ROC-curves representing the overall discriminatory abilities of mr-proANP, sensitive-cardiac troponin I and the combination of both biomarkers for the identification of patients with type-1 NSTE-ACS

C-statistic for type-2 NSTE-ACS was comparable to type-1 NSTE-ACS and exhibited an AUROC for scTnI at 0.903 (95%-CI: 0.836–0.970) and for mr-proANP at 0.642 (95%-CI: 0.525–0.760), while the combination of both biomarkers resulted in an AUROC of 0.772 (95%-CI: 0.676–0.869) for the type-2 NSTE-ACS (**Figure 7**).



Figure 7: ROC-curves representing the overall discriminatory abilities of mr-proANP, sensitive-cardiac troponin I and the combination of both biomarkers for the identification of patients with type-2 NSTE-ACS

Regarding the diagnostic performance in the total study cohort for an early rule-out of type-1 NSTE-ACS, sensitivity and the negative predictive value (NPV) of s-cTnI increased in combination with mrproANP. The NPV was 97.5% (95%-CI: 93.7–98.4) for s-cTnI and 94.4% (95%-CI: 93.7–98.4) for mrproANP, respectively. The combination of both biomarkers resulted in NPV of 99.5% (95%-CI: 95.8-99.9) and only one patient with the final diagnosis of type-1 NSTE-ACS was false negative. Sensitivity of mr-proANP for type-1 NSTE-ACS was 82.9% with low specificity (39.3%), while sensitivity and specificity of the s-cTnI assay used in the analysis were high (86.3% and 83.9%, respectively). By combining both biomarkers, further increase of sensitivity up to 98.9% was achieved, thereby reflecting the different pathophysiological properties of both markers. Due to the low specificity of mr-proANP, the combined effect failed to yield a better diagnostic performance with a specificity for biomarker combination of only 37.5%. With respect to the diagnostic performance in the total study cohort for the early rule-out of type-2 NSTE-ACS, sensitivity and NPV increased slightly when the dual marker strategy was employed. The NPV for type-2 NSTE-ACS was at 98.1% (95%-CI: 95.5–99.3) for scTnI and 96.3% (95%-CI: 91.7–98.5) for mr-proANP. The combination of both biomarkers led to a NPV of 98.6% (95-%: 94.6–99.8) with only two false negative-patients with final diagnosis of type-2 NSTE-ACS.

In the subgroup of very early presenters (SOT ≤ 2 h), the NPV of s-cTnI for type-1 NSTE-ACS was 96.7% (95%-CI: 87.5–99.4) and the NPV of mr-proANP was 100% (95%-CI: 87.1–100). The dual biomarker strategy yielded an NPV of 100% (95%-CI: 86.7–100) (**Figure 8, left panel**). Comparable to type-1 NSTE-ACS, the NPV of s-cTnI in patients presenting within 2 h from symptom onset was 98.3% (95%-CI: 89.8–99.9) for type-2 NSTE-ACS while the NPV of mr-proANP was 97.0% (95%-CI: 82.5–100). The combination of biomarker increased the NPV to 100% (95%-CI: 86.7–100) (**Figure 8, right panel**).



Figure 8: Negative predictive value (NPV) of the respective biomarkers for the diagnosis of type-1 and type-2 NSTE-ACS in the very early presenters' subgroup (SOT \leq 2h)

As expected, the diagnostic accuracy for the rule out of type-1 NSTE-ACS increased in patients presenting <2h after symptom onset. NPV for the combination of the biomarker reached 100% in this subgroup, thereby increasing the NPV of s-cTnI for type-1 NSTE-ACS from 97.5% (95%-CI: 94.7–98.7). In contrast, the dual biomarker strategy did not significantly increase the rule-out efficacy for type-2 NSTE-ACS patients presenting longer than 2 h after onset of symptoms.

4. Scientific Yield and Clinical Applications

4.1 Scientific Yield

This prospective cohort study of 311 patients, presenting to the ER with symptoms suggestive of ACS, investigated the release pattern and clinical efficacy of mr-proANP, as part of a dual biomarker strategy, in addition to s-cTnI for the diagnosis of type-1 and type-2 NSTE-ACS. This concept increased the NPV of s-cTnI for type-1 and type-2 NSTE-ACS in very early presenters (SOT<2 h) to 100%. The dual biomarker strategy with mr-proANP and s-cTnI results in a very early rule-out of NSTE-ACS, regardless of the infarction type and thus helps accelerating the diagnostic procedure itself.

The study population was unselected, included patients with chest pain and/or dyspnea or atypical and mixed symptoms and was comparable to other ER populations. (36, 100)

In the analysis of the mr-proANP values in context of gender, this biomarker demonstrated no sexrelated differences in its levels. (Figure 1) In relation to the mr-proANP levels and age, the study demonstrates a clear dependency between the high levels of mr-proANP and advanced age. This property of the biomarker is attributed to the comorbidities associated with advanced age with emphasis on chronic heart and renal failure as part of the complex cardiorenal syndrome. Furthermore, the study confirmed previous findings regarding the relation of mr-proANP levels and renal function. The strong correlation between increased levels of mr-proANP and increased impairment of the renal function was confirmed throughout all stages of the renal dysfunction according to KDIGO classification. (Figure 4)

Despite significant correlation between higher mr-proANP levels and age, this correlation weakened when compared in relation to sex-subgroups. The general property of mr-proANP to demonstrate no sex-related differences proved further on solid when tested through various age groups. (Table 1) As shown in previous studies, the triggers for mr-proANP release include: atrial distension, increased preload/afterload and vasoconstriction. In NSTE-ACS, the acute ventricular dysfunction might cause hemodynamic impairment on atrial level thus provoking an immediate mr-proANP release that serves as an actual compensatory mechanism in order to improve ventricular performance by reducing pre- and afterload of the heart. (56)

As previously demonstrated, this mr-proANP-response occurs immediately (2 to 5 minutes) (4) after myocardial ischemia onset and reaches its peak 3.7±0.4 h after onset of symptoms (56) with a half-life of 40 to 60 minutes (4). This is of importance for patients with both type-1 and type-2 NSTE-ACS

presenting within 2 h after onset of symptoms when troponin levels measured by commercial, nonhighest sensitivity assays still remain below cutoff (Figure 5). Such immediate increase of mr-proANP appears to be of special importance for the rule-out of an underlying NSTE-ACS and might as well help solving important caveats in the diagnostic performance of high sensitivity troponin assays of the ultimate generation: the issues of "early presenters" or "late risers". (73, 75, 76, 101) Furthermore, there are currently no mr-proANP-assays available for point of care testing (POCT). Our study demonstrated that the properties of mr-proANP as biomarker are suitable for potential development and utilization of both POCT-assay and device.

The first study investigating the use of dual biomarker strategy in NSTE-ACS diagnostic with mrproANP and troponin T (both sensitive and high-sensitive assays) claimed no diagnostic improvement when using mr-proANP (61). However, the investigators of this study did not address the rule-out strategy for NSTE-ACS in general or for the type-1 or type-2 NSTE-ACS, as they exclusively focused on the rule-in strategy by validating only the diagnostic accuracy for combination of mr-proANP and sensitive cTnT assays using c-statics.

It has been shown in previous studies that copeptin, in combination with cardiac troponin, is a biomarker suitable for clinical utilization as part of a dual biomarker strategy in NSTE-ACS rule-out. Similar to mr-proANP, copeptin is another biomarker of high sensitivity but low specificity that unlike mr-proANP arises in the brain instead the heart. (98) Our findings suggest that the combined use of mr-proANP and s-cTnI might be even superior to a dual biomarker strategy including copeptin for a quick rule-out in very early presenters.

Although, the high-sensitivity troponin I assay of the penultimate generation and not the highestsensitivity assays of the ultimate generation was used, there is a rationale for testing the dual biomarker strategy using these generations of troponin assays: 1) the conventional and highsensitive assays of penultimate generation are still widely used in Europe and almost exclusively in USA and 2) inability of hs-cTn assays of the ultimate generation to detect the subgroups of 'early presenters' and 'late risers'.

Albeit the concept of employing the mr-proANP for a rule-out of NSTE-ACS in early presenters proved plausible, the study was conducted in a relatively small cohort of patients and therefore should be put to the test in further studies.

4.2 Clinical Applications

The current ESC guidelines (74), suggest several new algorithms for NSTE-ACS diagnosis, trying to overcome the shortcomings of the assays of the highest sensitivity ('early presenters' and 'late raisers'). Furthermore, these new algorithms and their cut-offs are specific for each of the hs-cTn assays. Regardless which of the assessment concepts is used it demands serial blood testing, therefore presenting the challenge for both patients and medical staff: additional consumption of personnel, resources, prolonged length of stay for the patients and unfavorable economic effects in already congested ERs.

Our prospective cohort analysis demonstrated a favorable immediate release pattern of mr-proANP in NSTE-ACS that might help to bridge the `silent troponin time` phenomenon when highest-sensitivity cardiac troponin assays are not used. The high sensitivity of mr-proANP for NSTE-ACS was reflected in a high NPV, which was even further improved by employing the dual biomarker strategy. This concept performed best in the subgroup of patients presenting very early, within 2 h of symptom onset (21.9% of the study population), with an excellent NPV = 100% for both type-1 and type-2 NSTE-ACS. Accordingly, this strategy using mr-proANP in addition to cardiac troponin might result in an early, rapid and reliable rule-out of NSTE-ACS thus accelerating the diagnostic work-up and shortening the length of stay for patients presenting in ER with symptoms attributable to ACS.

4.3 Limitations

There are several limitations of this study that need to be taken into consideration. Primarily, this is a non-randomized, prospective, single-center cohort study and a potential bias regarding the patient selection cannot be excluded. Although our study cohort was unselected, in terms of patients' characteristics, it included the population with symptoms comparable to other published ER population studies.

By definition, cohort studies differ from clinical trials in that no intervention, treatment, or exposure is administered to participants in a cohort design and no control group is defined. In this study population, there were in total 68 patients with SOT under <2 hours and they were identified as 'early presenters'. Although the concept of employing the mr-proANP for a rule-out of NSTE-ACS in early presenters proved plausible, the study was conducted in a relatively small cohort and subgroups of patients and therefore should be put to the test in further, larger studies.

Furthermore, it was a single-center study with its issues embedded in the nature of this particular study design. On the other hand, the advantage of a single-center approach was reflected in a reduced variability regarding conduct of the study and data collection.

Importantly, we used the high-sensitivity troponin I assay of the penultimate generation and not the highest-sensitivity assays of the ultimate generation. Nevertheless, considering that conventional and high-sensitive assays of penultimate generation are still widely used in Europe and primarily in USA and regarding the hs-cTn assays' caveats of the ultimate generation in the 'early presenters' and 'late risers' subgroups, there is a rationale for testing the dual biomarker strategy using these generations of troponin assays.

References:

- Potter LR, Yoder AR, Flora DR, Antos LK, Dickey DM. Natriuretic Peptides: Their Structures, Receptors, Physiologic Functions and Therapeutic Applications. Handb Exp Pharmacol. 2009; (191): 341–366
- 2. Seldin and Giebisch: The Kidney (Fifth Ed.). Elsevier Inc. 2012 p. 1242
- 3. Evrard A, Hober C, Racadot A, Lefebvre J, Vantyghem MC. [Atrial natriuretic hormone and endocrine functions]. Ann Biol Clin (Paris). 1999 Mar-Apr; 57(2):149-55. Review. French.
- Buckley MG, Marcus NJ, Yacoub MH. Cardiac peptide stability, aprotinin and room temperature: importance for assessing cardiac function in clinical practice. Clin Sci (Lond) 1999; 97:689–95.
- 5. Bilder GE, Schofield TL, Blaine EH. Release of atrial natriuretic factor. Effects of repetitive stretch and temperature. Am J Physiol. 1986; 251:F817–F821
- 6. Edwards BS, Zimmerman RS, Schwab TR, Heublein DM, Burnett JC., Jr. Atrial stretch, not pressure, is the principal determinant controlling the acute release of atrial natriuretic factor. Circ Res. 1988;62:191–195
- 7. Lang RE, Tholken H, Ganten D, Luft FC, Ruskoaho H, Unger T. Atrial natriuretic factor–a circulating hormone stimulated by volume loading. Nature. 1985;314:264–266
- Cody RJ, Atlas SA, Laragh JH, Kubo SH, Covit AB, Ryman KS, Shaknovich A, Pondolfino K, Clark M, Camargo MJ, Scarborough RM, Lewicki JA. Atrial natriuretic factor in normal subjects and heart failure patients. Plasma levels and renal, hormonal, and hemodynamic responses to peptide infusion. J Clin Invest. 1986;78:1362–1374.
- Morgenthaler NG, Struck J, Thomas B, Bergmann A. Immunoluminometric assay for the midregion of pro-atrial natriuretic peptide in human plasma. Clin Chem. 2004 Jan; 50(1):234-6.
- Nakao K, Sugawara A, Morii N, Sakamoto M, Yamada T, Itoh H, Shiono S, Saito Y, Nishimura K, Ban T. The pharmacokinetics of alpha-human atrial natriuretic polypeptide in healthy subjects. Eur J Clin Pharmacol. 1986; 31:101–103.
- 11. Yandle TG, Richards AM, Nicholls MG, Cuneo R, Espiner EA, Livesey JH. Metabolic clearance rate and plasma half-life of alpha-human atrial natriuretic peptide in man. Life Sci. 1986;38:1827–1833.
- Stephenson SL, Kenny AJ. The hydrolysis of alpha-human atrial natriuretic peptide by pig kidney microvillar membranes is initiated by endopeptidase-24.11. Biochem J. 1987;243:183–187.
- 13. Vanneste Y, Michel A, Dimaline R, Najdovski T, Deschodt-Lanckman M. Hydrolysis of alphahuman atrial natriuretic peptide in vitro by human kidney membranes and purified endopeptidase-24.11. Evidence for a novel cleavage site. Biochem J. 1988; 254: 531–537.
- 14. Yandle TG, Brennan SO, Espiner EA, Nicholls MG, Richards AM. Endopeptidase-24.11 in human plasma degrades atrial natriuretic factor (ANF) to ANF (99–105/106 126) Peptides. 1989; 10:891–894.
- 15. Hoehn K, Marieb EN (2013). "16". Human anatomy & physiology (9th Ed.). Boston: Pearson. p. 629.
- 16. Goetz KL (January 1988). "Physiology and pathophysiology of atrial peptides". The American Journal of Physiology. 254 (1 Pt 1): E1–15.
- Theilig F, Wu Q (May 2015). "ANP-induced signaling cascade and its implications in renal pathophysiology" (https:// www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4436998). American Journal of Physiology. Renal Physiology. 308 (10): F1047–55.

- 18. Fu S, Ping P, Wang F, Luo L (2018-01-12). "Synthesis, secretion, function, metabolism and application of natriuretic peptides in heart failure" Journal of Biological Engineering. 12 (1): 2.
- Fernandes-Cerqueira C, Sampaio-Maia B, Quelhas-Santos J, Moreira-Rodrigues M, Simões-Silva L, BlazquezMedela AM, Martinez-Salgado C, Lopez-Novoa JM, Pestana M (2013).
 "Concerted action of ANP and dopamine D1- receptor to regulate sodium homeostasis in nephrotic syndrome". BioMed Research International. 2013: 397391.
- 20. John SW, Krege JH, Oliver PM, Hagaman JR, Hodgin JB, Pang SC, Flynn TG, Smithies O. Genetic decreases in atrial natriuretic peptide and salt-sensitive hypertension [published erratum appears in Science 1995 Mar 24;267(5205):1753] Science. 1995; 267: 679–681.
- John SW, Veress AT, Honrath U, Chong CK, Peng L, Smithies O, Sonnenberg H. Blood pressure and fluid-electrolyte balance in mice with reduced or absent ANP. Am J Physiol. 1996;271:R109–114
- 22. Lopez MJ, Wong SK, Kishimoto I, Dubois S, Mach V, Friesen J, Garbers DL, Beuve A. Saltresistant hypertension in mice lacking the guanylyl cyclase-A receptor for atrial natriuretic peptide. Nature. 1995;378:65–68
- 23. Oliver PM, Fox JE, Kim R, Rockman HA, Kim HS, Reddick RL, Pandey KN, Milgram SL, Smithies O, Maeda N. Hypertension, cardiac hypertrophy, and sudden death in mice lacking natriuretic peptide receptor A. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1997;94:14730–14735.
- 24. De Bold AJ, Borenstein HB, Veress AT, Sonnenberg H. A rapid and potent natriuretic response to intravenous injection of atrial myocardial extract in rats. Life Sci. 1981; 28: 89–94.
- 25. Sabrane K, Kruse MN, Fabritz L, Zetsche B, Mitko D, Skryabin BV, Zwiener M, Baba HA, Yanagisawa M, Kuhn M. Vascular endothelium is critically involved in the hypotensive and hypovolemic actions of atrial natriuretic peptide. J Clin Invest. 2005; 115: 1666–1674.
- 26. Knowles JW, Esposito G, Mao L, Hagaman JR, Fox JE, Smithies O, Rockman HA, Maeda N. Pressure-independent enhancement of cardiac hypertrophy in natriuretic peptide receptor A-deficient mice. J Clin Invest. 2001; 107: 975–984.
- 27. Barrett BJ, Parfrey PS. Prevention of nephrotoxicity induced by radiocontrast agents. N Engl J Med. 1994; 331:1449–1450.
- 28. Steinhelper ME, Cochrane KL, Field LJ. Hypotension in transgenic mice expressing atrial natriuretic factor fusion genes. Hypertension. 1990;16:301–307.
- 29. Stridsberg M, Pettersson T, Pettersson K. A two-site Delfia immunoassay for measurements of the N-terminal peptide of pro-atrial natriuretic peptide (nANP). Ups J Med Sci 1997; 102: 99–108.
- 30. Missbichler A, Hawa G, Schmal N, Woloszczuk W. Sandwich ELISA for proANP 1–98 facilitates investigation of left ventricular dysfunction. Eur J Med Res 2001; 6: 105–11.
- 31. Seidler T, Pemberton C, Yandle T, Espiner E, Nicholls G, Richards M. The amino terminal regions of proBNP and proANP oligomerise through leucine zipper-like coiled-coil motifs. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 1999; 255: 495–501.
- Baertschi AJ, Monnier D, Schmidt U, Levitan ES, Fakan S, Roatti A. Acid prohormone sequence determines size, shape, and docking of secretory vesicles in atrial myocytes. Circ Res 2001; 89: E23–9.
- Cappellin E, Gatti R, Spinella P, De Palo CB, Woloszczuk W, Maragno I, De Palo EF. Plasma atrial natriuretic peptide (ANP) fragments proANP (1–30) and proANP (31–67) measurements in chronic heart failure: a useful index for heart transplantation? Clin Chim Acta 2001; 310:49–52.
- 34. Daggubati S, Parks JR, Overton RM, Cintron G, Schocken DD, Vesely DL. Adrenomedullin, endothelin, neuropeptide Y, atrial, brain, and C-natriuretic prohormone peptides compared as early heart failure indicators. Cardiovasc Res 1997;36:246–55.

- 35. Amsterdam, E. A.; Wenger, N. K.; Brindis, R. G.; Casey, D. E.; Ganiats, T. G.; Holmes, D. R.; Jafe, A. S.; Jneid, H.; Kelly, R. F.; Kontos, M. C.; Levine, G. N.; Liebson, P. R.; Mukherjee, D.; Peterson, E. D.; Sabatine, M. S.; Smalling, R. W.; Zieman, S. J. (23 September 2014). "2014 AHA/ACC Guideline for the Management of Patients with Non-STElevation Acute Coronary Syndromes: A Report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines". Circulation. 130 (25): e344–e426.
- Canto JG, Shlipak MG, Rogers WJ (June 2000). "Prevalence, Clinical Characteristics, and Mortality among Patients with Acute Myocardial Infarction Presenting Without Chest Pain". JAMA. 283 (24): 3223–3229.
- 37. Thygesen K, Alpert JS, Jaffe AS, Chaitman BR, Bax JJ, Morrow DA, White HD; Executive Group on behalf of the Joint European Society of Cardiology(ESC)/American College of Cardiology (ACC)/American Heart Association (AHA)/World Heart Federation (WHF) Task Force for the Universal Definition of Myocardial Infarction. Fourth Universal Definition of Myocardial Infarction (2018. Circulation. 2018 Nov 13; 138(20):e618-e651.
- Bentzon JF, Otsuka F, Virmani R, Falk E. Mechanisms of plaque formation and rupture. Circ Res. 2014; 114:1852–1866. 45. Falk E, Nakano M, Bentzon JF, Finn AV, Virmani R. Update on acute coronary syndromes: the pathologists' view. Eur Heart J. 2013;34: 719–728.
- 39. Falk E, Nakano M, Bentzon JF, Finn AV, Virmani R. Update on acute coronary syndromes: the pathologists' view. Eur Heart J. 2013;34: 719–728
- Thygesen K, Alpert JS, White HD; Joint ESC/ACC/AHA/WHF Task Force for the Redefinition of Myocardial Infarction. Universal definition of myocardial infarction. Eur Heart J. 2007; 28:2525–2538; Circulation. 2007; 116:2634–2653; J Am Coll Cardiol. 2007;50:2173–2195.
- Thygesen K, Alpert JS, Jaffe AS, Simoons ML, Chaitman BR, White HD; Writing Group on the Joint ESC/ACC/AHA/WHF Task Force for the Universal Definition of Myocardial Infarction. Third universal definition of myocardial infarction. Eur Heart J. 2012; 33: 2551–2567; Circulation. 2012;126:2020–2035; J Am Coll Cardiol. 2012;60:1581–1598.
- 42. Piotr Ponikowski, Adriaan A Voors, Stefan D Anker, Héctor Bueno, John G F Cleland, Andrew J S Coats, Volkmar Falk, José Ramón González-Juanatey, Veli-Pekka Harjola, Ewa A Jankowska, Mariell Jessup, Cecilia Linde, Petros Nihoyannopoulos, John T Parissis, Burkert Pieske, Jillian P Riley, Giuseppe M C Rosano, Luis M Ruilope, Frank Ruschitzka, Frans H Rutten, Peter van der Meer, ESC Scientific Document Group, 2016 ESC Guidelines for the diagnosis and treatment of acute and chronic heart failure: The Task Force for the diagnosis and treatment of acute and chronic heart failure of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC): European Heart Journal, Volume 37, Issue 27, 14 July 2016, Pages 2129–2200
- 43. Roberts E, Ludman AJ, Dworzynski K, Al-Mohammad A, Cowie MR, McMurray JJV, Mant J. The diagnostic accuracy of the natriuretic peptides in heart failure: systematic review and diagnostic meta-analysis in the acute care setting. BMJ2015; 350:h910.55.
- 44. Maisel A, Mueller C, Adams K, Anker SD, Aspromonte N, Cleland JGF, Cohen-Solal A, Dahlstrom U, DeMaria A, DiSomma S, Filippatos GS, Fonarow GC, Jourdain P, Komajda M, Liu PP, McDonagh T, McDonald K, Mebazaa A, Nieminen MS, Peacock WF, Tubaro M, Valle R, Vanderhyden M, Yancy CW, Zannad F, Braunwald E. State of the art: using natriuretic peptide le-vels in clinical practice. Eur J Heart Fail2008;10:824 – 839
- 45. Zaphiriou A, Robb S, Murray-Thomas T, Mendez G, Fox K, McDonagh T, Hardman SMC, Dargie HJ, Cowie MR. The diagnostic accuracy of plasma BNP and NTproBNP in patients referred from primary care with suspected heart failure: results of the UK natriuretic peptide study. Eur J Heart Fail2005; 7:537 – 541.57.
- 46. Fuat A, Murphy JJ, Hungin APS, Curry J, Mehrzad AA, Hetherington A, Johnston JI, Smellie WSA, Duffy V, Cawley P. The diagnostic accuracy and utility of a B-type natriuretic peptide

test in a community population of patients with suspected heart failure.Br J Gen Pract2006; 56:327 – 333.58.

- Yamamoto K, Burnett JC, Bermudez EA, Jougasaki M, Bailey KR, Redfield MM. Clinical criteria and biochemical markers for the detection of systolic dysfunction Card Fail 2000;6:194 – 200.59.
- 48. Cowie MR, Struthers AD, Wood DA, Coats AJ, Thompson SG, Poole-Wilson PA, Sutton GC. Value of natriuretic peptides in assessment of patients with possible new heart failure in primary care.Lancet1997; 350:1349 1353.60.
- 49. Krishnaswamy P, Lubien E, Clopton P, Koon J, Kazanegra R, Wanner E, Gardetto N, Garcia A, DeMaria A, Maisel AS. Utility of B-natriuretic peptide levels in identifying patients with left ventricular systolic or diastolic dysfunction. Am JMed2001; 111:274 279.61.
- 50. Kelder JC, Cramer MJ, Verweij WM, Grobbee DE, Hoes AW. Clinical utility of three B-type natriuretic peptide assays for the initial diagnostic assessment of new slow-onset heart failure Card Fail2011; 17:729 734.
- Madamanchi C, Alhosaini H, Sumida A, Runge MS. Obesity and natriuretic peptides, BNP and NT-proBNP: Mechanisms and diagnostic implications for heart failure. Int J Cardiol2014; 176:611 – 617.
- McMurray JJ, Packer M, Desai AS, Gong J, Lefkowitz MP, Rizkala AR, Rouleau JL, Shi VC, Solomon SD, Swedberg K, Zile MR, PARADIGM-HF Investigators and Committees. Angiotensin-neprilysin inhibition versus enalapril in heart failure. Engl J Med2014; 371:993 – 1004.
- King JB, Bress AP, Reese AD, Munger MA. Neprilysin inhibition in heart failure with reduced ejection fraction: a clinical review.Pharmacother J Hum PharmacolDrug Ther2015; 35:823 – 837.
- 54. Mangiafico S, Costello-Boerrigter LC, Andersen IA, Cataliotti A, Burnett JC. Neutral endopeptidase inhibition and the natriuretic peptide system: an evolving strategy in cardiovascular therapeutics. Eur Heart J2013;34:886 893 infarction. Eur Heart J2018;39:37803794.
- 55. von Haehling S, Jankowska EA, Morgenthaler NG, Vassanelli C, Zanolla L, Rozentryt P, Filippatos GS, Doehner W, Koehler F, Papassotiriou J, Kremastinos DT, Banasiak W, Struck J, Ponikowski P, Bergmann A, Anker SD. Comparison of midregional pro-atrial natriuretic peptide with N-terminal pro-B-type natriuretic peptide in predicting survival in patients with chronic heart failure. J Am Coll Cardiol 2007; 50:1973-80.
- 56. Hall C, Rouleau JL, Moyè L, de Champlain J, Bichet D, Klein M, Sussex B,Packer M, Rouleau J, Arnold MO. N-Terminal Proatrial Natriuretic Factor An Independent Predictor of Long-term Prognosis After Myocardial Infarction. Circulation1994; 89:1934-1942.
- Dickstein K, Larsen AI, Bonarjee VVS, Thoresen M, Aarsland T, Hall C. Plasma Proatrial Natriuretic Factor Is Predictive of Clinical Status in Patients with Congestie Heart Failure. Am J Cardiol 1995; 76:679-683
- Wei CM, Heublein DM, Perrella MA, Lerman A, Rodeheffer RJ, McGregor CG, Edwards WD, Schaff HV, Burnett JC Jr. Natriuretic peptide system in human heart failure. Circulation 1993; 88:1004-9.6.
- 59. Jernberg T, Stridsberg M, Lindahl B. Usefulness of Plasma N-Terminal Proatrial Natriuretic Petptide (proANP) as an Early Predictor of Outcome in Unstable Angina Pectoris or Non-ST-Elevation Acute Myocardial Infarction. Am J Cardiol 2002; 89:64-66
- 60. Khan SQ, Dhillon O, Kelly D, Squire IB, Struck J, Quinn P, Morgenthaler NG, Bergmann A, Davies JE, Ng LL. Plasma N-terminal B-Type natriuretic peptide as an indicator of long term survival after acute myocardial infarction: comparison with plasma midregional pro-atrial

natriuretic peptide: the LAMP (Leicester Acute Myocardial Infarction Peptide) study. J Am Coll Cardiol 2008; 51:1857-64

- 61. Meune C, Twerenbold R, Drexler B, Balmelli C, Wolf C, Haaf P, Reichlin T, Irfan A, Reiter M, Zellweger C, Meissner J, Stelzig C, Freese M, Capodarve I, Mueller C. Midregional pro-A-type natriuretic peptide for diagnosis and prognosis in patients with suspected acute myocardial infarction. Am J Cardiol. 2012 Apr 15; 109(8):1117-23.
- 62. Thygesen K, Mair J, Katus H, Plebani M, Venge P, Collinson P, Lindahl B, Giannitsis E, Hasin Y, Galvani M, Tubaro M, Alpert JS, Biasucci LM, Koenig W, Mueller CH, Huber K, Hamm C, Jaffe AS; The Study Group on Biomarkers in Cardiology of the ESC Working Group on Acute Cardiac Care. Recommendations for the use of cardiac troponin measurement in acute cardiac care. Eur Heart J. 2010; 31:2197–2204.
- 63. Thygesen K, Mair J, Giannitsis E, Mueller C, Lindahl B, Blankenberg S, Huber K, Plebani M, Biasucci LM. Tubaro M, Collinson P, Venge P, Hasin Y, Galvani M, Koenig W, Hamm C, Alpert JS, Katus H, Jaffe AS; Study Group on Biomarkers in Cardiology of the ESC Working Group on Acute Cardiac Care. How to use high-sensitivity cardiac troponins in acute cardiac care. Eur Heart J. 2012;33:2252–2257
- 64. Apple FS, Jaffe AS, Collinson P, Mockel M, Ordonez-Llanos J, Lindahl B, Hollander J, Plebani M, Than M, Chan MH; on behalf of the International Federation of Clinical Chemistry (IFCC) Task Force on Clinical Applications of Cardiac Bio-Markers. IFCC educational materials on selected analytical and clinical applications of high sensitivity cardiac troponin assays. Clin Biochem. 2015;48:201–203
- 65. Goodman SG, Steg PG, Eagle KA, Fox KA, López-Sendón J, Montalescot G, Budaj A, Kennelly BM, Gore JM, Allegrone J, Granger CB, Gurfinkel EP; GRACE Investigators. The diagnostic and prognostic impact of the redefinition of acute myocardial infarction: lessons from the Global Registry of Acute Coronary Events (GRACE). Am Heart J. 2006; 151:654–660.
- 66. Weil BR, Suzuki G, Young RF, Iyer V, Canty JM Jr. Troponin release and reversible left ventricular dysfunction following transient pressure overload: stress-induced myocardial stunning. J Am Cardiol Coll. 2018; 71:2906–2916.
- 67. Turer AT, Addo TA, Martin JL, Sabatine MS, Lewis GD, Gerszten RE, Keeley EC, Cigarroa JE, Lange RA, Hillis LD, de Lemos JA. Myocardial ischemia induced by rapid atrial pacing causes troponin T release detectable by a highly sensitive assay: insights from a coronary sinus sampling study. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2011; 57:2398–2405.
- 68. Siriwardena M, Campbell V, Richards AM, Pemberton CJ. Cardiac biomarker responses to dobutamine stress echocardiography in healthy volunteers and patients with coronary artery disease. Clin Chem. 2012;58:1492–1494.
- Melanson SE, Morrow DA, Jarolim P. Earlier detection of myocardial injury in a preliminary evaluation using a new troponin I assay with improved sensitivity. Am J Clin Pathol. 2007; 128:282–6
- 70. Roffi M, Patrono C, Collet JP, Mueller C, Valgimigli M, Andreotti F, Bax JJ, Borger MA, Brotons C, Chew DP, Gencer B, Hasenfuss G, Kjeldsen K, Lancellotti P, Landmesser U, Mehilli J, Mukherjee D, Storey RF, Windecker S. 2015 ESC Guidelines for the management of acute coronary syndromes in patients presenting without persistent ST-segment elevation: Task Force for the Management of Acute Coronary Syndromes in Patients Presenting without Persistent ST-Segment Elevation of the European Society of Cardiology(ESC). Eur Heart J. 2015 Aug
- 71. Möckel M, Giannitsis E, Mueller C, Huber K, Jaffe AS, Mair J, Plebani M, Thygesen K, Lindahl B; Biomarker Study Group of the European Society of Cardiology Acute Cardiovascular Care

Association. Editor's Choice-Rule-in of acute myocardial infarction: Focus on troponin. Eur Heart J Acute Cardiovasc Care. 2017 Apr; 6(3):212-217

- Reichlin T, Cullen L, Parsonage WA, . Two-hour algorithm for triage toward rule-out and rulein of acute myocardial infarction using high-sensitivity cardiac troponin T. Am J Med 2014; 128: 369–379
- Boeddinghaus J, Reichlin T, Cullen L, . Two-hour algorithm for triage towards rule-out and rule-in of acute myocardial infarction using high-sensitivity cardiac troponin I. Clin Chem. 2016; 62: 494–504
- 74. Jean-Philippe Collet, Holger Thiele, Emanuele Barbato, Olivier Barthélémy, Johann Bauersachs, Deepak L Bhatt, Paul Dendale, Maria Dorobantu, Thor Edvardsen, Thierry Folliguet, Chris P Gale, Martine Gilard, Alexander Jobs, Peter Jüni, Ekaterini Lambrinou, Basil S Lewis, Julinda Mehilli, Emanuele Meliga, Béla Merkely, Christian Mueller, Marco Roffi, Frans H Rutten, Dirk Sibbing, George C M Siontis, ESC Scientific Document Group, 2020 ESC Guidelines for the management of acute coronary syndromes in patients presenting without persistent ST-segment elevation: The Task Force for the management of acute coronary syndromes in patients presenting without persistent ST-segment elevation of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC), European Heart Journal
- 75. Reichlin T, Hochholzer W, Bassetti S, Steuer S, Stelzig C, Hartwiger S, Biedert S, Schaub N, Buerge C, Potocki M, Noveanu M, Breidthardt T, Twerenbold R, Winkler K, Bingisser R, Mueller C. Early diagnosis of myocardial infarction with sensitive cardiac troponin assays. N Engl J Med 2009; 361:858–867.
- 76. Keller T, Zeller T, Peetz D, Tzikas S, Roth A, Czyz E, Bickel C, Baldus S, Warnholtz A, Frohlich M, Sinning CR, Eleftheriadis MS, Wild PS, Schnabel RB, Lubos E, Jachmann N, Genth-Zotz S, Post F, Nicaud V, Tiret L, Lackner KJ, Munzel TF, Blankenberg S. Sensitive troponin I assay in early diagnosis of acute myocardial infarction. N Engl J Med 2009; 361:868 –877.
- 77. Keller T, Zeller T, Ojeda F, Tzikas S, Lillpopp L, Sinning C, Wild P, Genth-Zotz S, Warnholtz A, Giannitsis E, Mockel M, Bickel C, Peetz D, Lackner K, Baldus S, Munzel T, Blankenberg S. Serial changes in highly sensitive troponin I assay and early diagnosis of myocardial infarction. JAMA 2011; 306:2684 –2693.
- 78. Shah ASV, Anand A, Strachan FE, Ferry AV, Lee KK, Chapman AR, Sandeman D, Stables CL, Adamson PD, Andrews JPM, Anwar MS, Hung J, Moss AJ, O'Brien R, Berry C, Findlay I, Walker S, Cruickshank A, Reid A, Gray A, Collinson PO, Apple FS, McAllister DA, Maguire D, Fox KAA, Newby DE, Tuck C, Harkess R, Parker RA, Keerie C, Weir CJ, Mills NL, High-STEACS investigators. High-sensitivity troponin in the evaluation of patients with suspected acute coronary syndrome: a stepped-wedge, cluster-randomised controlled trial. Lancet2018;392:919928
- 79. Wildi K, Boeddinghaus J, Nestelberger T, Twerenbold R, Badertscher P, WusslerD, Gimenez MR, Puelacher C, du Fay de Lavallaz J, Dietsche S, Walter J,Kozhuharov N, Morawiec B, Miro O, Javier Martin-Sanchez F, Subramaniam S,Geigy N, Keller DI, Reichlin T, Mueller C, APACE investigators. Comparison of fourteen rule-out strategies for acute myocardial infarction. Int J Cardiol2019; 283:4147.
- 80. Ambavane A, Lindahl B, Giannitsis E, Roiz J, Mendivil J, Frankenstein L, Body Christ M, Bingisser R, Alquezar A, Mueller C, TRAPID-AMI investigators. Economic evaluation of the one-hour rule-out and rule-in algorithm for acute myocardial infarction using the high-

sensitivity cardiac troponin T assay in the emergency department.PLoS One2017;12:e0187662.

- 81. Stoyanov KM, Hund H, Biener M, Gandowitz J, Riedle C, Lohr J, Mueller-Hennessen M, Vafaie M, Katus HA, Giannitsis E. RAPID-CPU: a prospective study on implementation of the ESC 0/1-hour algorithm and safety of discharge after rule-out of myocardial infarction. Eur Heart J Acute Cardiovasc Care2020; 9:3951.
- 82. Neumann JT, Twerenbold R, Ojeda F, Sorensen NA, Chapman AR, Shah ASV, Anand A, Boeddinghaus J, Nestelberger T, Badertscher P, Moktar A, Pickering, Troughton RW, Greenslade J, Parsonage W, Mueller-Hennessen M, Gori Jernberg T, Morris N, Liebetrau C, Hamm C, Katus HA, Munzel T, Landmesser, Salomaa V, Iacoviello L, Ferrario MM, Giampaoli S, Kee F, Thorand B, PetersA, Borchini R, Jorgensen T, Soderberg S, Sans S, Tunstall-Pedoe H, Kuulasmaa K, Renne T, Lackner KJ, Worster A, Body R, Ekelund U, Kavsak PA, Keller T, Lindahl B, Wild P, Giannitsis E, Than M, Cullen LA, Mills NL, Mueller C, Zeller T, Westermann D, Blankenberg S. Application of high-sensitivity troponin in suspected myocardial Infarction.J Engl J Med2019;380:25292540.
- 83. Twerenbold R, Badertscher P, Boeddinghaus J, Nestelberger T, Wildi K,Puelacher C, Sabti Z, Rubini Gimenez M, Tschirky S, du Fay de Lavallaz J,Kozhuharov N, Sazgary L, Mueller D, Breidthardt T, Strebel I, Flores Widmer D,Shrestha S, Miro O, Martin-Sanchez FJ, Morawiec B, Parenica J, Geigy N, Keller DI, Rentsch K, von Eckardstein A, Osswald S, Reichlin T, Mueller C. 0/1-hour tri-age algorithm for myocardial infarction in patients with renal dysfunction.Circulation2018;137:436451
- 84. Boeddinghaus J, Nestelberger T, Twerenbold R, Neumann JT, Lindahl B,Giannitsis E, Sorensen NA, Badertscher P, Jann JE, Wussler D, Puelacher C,Rubini Gimenez M, Wildi K, Strebel I, Du Fay de Lavallaz J, Selman F, Sabti Z,Kozhuharov N, Potlukova E, Rentsch K, Miro O, Martin-Sanchez FJ, Morawiec B,Parenica J, Lohrmann J, Kloos W, Buser A, Geigy N, Keller DI, Osswald S,Reichlin T, Westermann D, Blankenberg S, Mueller C, APACE, BACC, and TRAPID-AMI Investigators. Impact of age on the performance of the ESC 0/1h-algorithms for early diagnosis of myocardial infarction. Eur Heart J2018; 39:3780-3794.
- 85. Boeddinghaus J, Twerenbold R, Nestelberger T, Badertscher P, Wildi K,Puelacher C, du Fay de Lavallaz J, Keser E, Rubini Gimenez M, Wussler D,Kozhuharov N, Rentsch K, Miro O, Martin-Sanchez FJ, Morawiec B, Stefanelli S,Geigy N, Keller DI, Reichlin T, Mueller C, APACE Investigators. Clinical validation of a novel high-sensitivity cardiac troponin I assay for early diagnosis of acute myocardial infarction. Clin Chem2018; 64:13471360.
- 86. Mueller C, Giannitsis E, Christ M, Ordonez-Llanos J, deFilippi C, McCord J, BodyR, Panteghini M, Jernberg T, Plebani M, Verschuren F, French J, Christenson R, Weiser S, Bendig G, Dilba P, Lindahl B, Investigators TRAPID-AMI. Multicenter evaluation of a 0-hour/1-hour algorithm in the diagnosis of myocardial infarction with high-sensitivity cardiac troponin Tan Emerge Med2016; 68:76-87 e74.
- 87. Twerenbold R, Neumann JT, Sorensen NA, Ojeda F, Karakas M, Boeddinghaus J,Nestelberger T, Badertscher P, Rubini Gimenez M, Puelacher C, Wildi K,Kozhuharov N, Breitenbuecher D, Biskup E, du Fay de Lavallaz J, Flores D,Wussler D, Miro O, Martin Sanchez FJ, Morawiec B, Parenica J, Geigy N, KellerDI, Zeller T, Reichlin T, Blankenberg S, Westermann D, Mueller C. Prospective validation of the 0/1-h algorithm for early diagnosis of myocardial infarction.JAmColl Cardiol2018;72:620632.

- 88. Giannitsis E, Becker M, Kurz K, Hess G, Zdunek D, Katus HA. High-sensitivity cardiac troponin T for early prediction of evolving non-ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction in patients with suspected acute coronary syndrome and negative troponin results on admission. Clin Chem 2010;56:642 –650.
- Haaf P, Drexler B, Reichlin T, Twerenbold R, Reiter M, Meissner J, Schaub N, Stelzig C, Freese M, Heinzelmann A, Meune C, Balmelli C, Freidank H, Winkler K, Denhaerynck K, Hochholzer W, Osswald S, Mueller C. Highsensitivity cardiac troponin in the distinction of acute myocardial infarction from acute cardiac noncoronary artery disease. Circulation 2012;126:31 –40
- 90. Rubini Gimenez M, Hoeller R, Reichlin T, Zellweger C, Twerenbold R, Reiter M, Moehring B, Wildi K, Mosimann T, Mueller M, Meller B, Hochgruber T, Ziller R, Sou SM, Murray K, Sakarikos K, Ernst S, Gea J, Campodarve I, Vilaplana C, Haaf P, Steuer S, Minners J, Osswald S, Mueller C. Rapid rule out of acute myocardial infarction using undetectable levels of high-sensitivity cardiac troponin. Int J Cardiol 2013;168:3896 –3901.
- 91. Reichlin T, Schindler C, Drexler B, Twerenbold R, Reiter M, Zellweger C, Moehring B, Ziller R, Hoeller R, Rubini Gimenez M, Haaf P, Potocki M, Wildi K, Balmelli C, Freese M, Stelzig C, Freidank H, Osswald S, Mueller C. One-hour ruleout and rule-in of acute myocardial infarction using high-sensitivity cardiac troponin T. Arch Intern Med 2012; 172:1211 – 1218.
- 92. Body R, Carley S, McDowell G, Jaffe AS, France M, Cruickshank K, Wibberley C, Nuttall M, Mackway-Jones K. Rapid exclusion of acute myocardial infarction in patients with undetectable troponin using a high-sensitivity assay. J Am Coll Cardiol 2011; 58:1332 –1339.
- 93. Bandstein N, Ljung R, Johansson M, Holzmann MJ. Undetectable high-sensitivity cardiac troponin T level in the emergency department and risk of myocardial infarction. J Am Coll Cardiol 2014;63:2569 –2578.
- 94. Zhelev Z, Hyde C, Youngman E, Rogers M, Fleming S, Slade T, Coelho H, Jones-Hughes T, Nikolaou V. Diagnostic accuracy of single baseline measurement of Elecsys troponin T highsensitive assay for diagnosis of acute myocardial infarction in emergency department: systematic review and meta-analysis. BMJ 2015; 350:h15.
- 95. Reichlin T, Twerenbold R, Wildi K, Gimenez MR, Bergsma N, Haaf P, Druey S, Puelacher C, Moehring B, Freese M, Stelzig C, Krivoshei L, Hillinger P, Jager C, Herrmann T, Kreutzinger P, Radosavac M, Weidmann ZM, Pershyna K, Honegger U, Wagener M, Vuillomenet T, Campodarve I, Bingisser R, Miro O, Rentsch K, Bassetti S, Osswald S, Mueller C. Prospective validation of a 1-hour algorithm to rule-out and rule-in acute myocardial infarction using a highsensitivity cardiac troponin T assay. CMAJ 2015; 187:E243 –E252.
- 96. Rubini Gimenez M, Twerenbold R, Jaeger C, Schindler C, Puelacher C, Wildi K, Reichlin T, Haaf P, Merk S, Honegger U, Wagener M, Druey S, Schumacher C, Krivoshei L, Hillinger P, Herrmann T, Campodarve I, Rentsch K, Bassetti S, Osswald S, Mueller C. One-hour rule-in and rule-out of acute myocardial infarction using high-sensitivity cardiac troponin I. Am J Med 2015; 128: 861 870.
- 97. Wildi K, Nelles B, Twerenbold R, Rubini Gimenez M, Reichlin T, Singeisen H,Druey S, Haaf P, Sabti Z, Hillinger P, Jaeger C, Campodarve I, Kreutzinger P,Puelacher C, Moreno Weidmann Z, Gugala M, Pretre G, Doerflinger S, Wagener M, Stallone F, Freese M, Stelzig C, Rentsch K, Bassetti S, Bingisser R, Osswald S,Mueller C. Safety and efficacy of the 0 h/3 h protocol for rapid rule out of myocardial infarction. Am Heart J2016;181:16 25

- 98. Mueller C, Möckel M, Giannitsis E, Huber K, Mair J, Plebani M, Thygesen K, Jaffe AS, Lindahl B; ESC Study Group on Biomarkers in Cardiology of the Acute Cardiovascular Care Association. Use of copeptin for rapid rule-out of acute myocardial infarction. Eur Heart J Acute Cardiovasc Care. 2017 Jun 1
- 99. Möckel M, Searle J, Hamm C, Slagman A, Blankenberg S, Huber K, Katus H, Liebetrau C, Müller C, Muller R, Peitsmeyer P, von Recum J, Tajsic M, Vollert JO, Giannitsis E. Early discharge using single cardiac troponin and copeptin testing in patients with suspected acute coronary syndrome (ACS): a randomized, controlled clinical process study. Eur Heart J, 2015. 36(6): p. 369-76.
- 100. Brieger D, Eagle KA, Goodman SG, Steg PG, Budaj A, White K, Montalescot G; GRACE Investigators. Acute coronary syndromes without chest pain, an underdiagnosed and undertreated high-risk group: insights from the Global Registry of Acute Coronary Events. Chest. 2004 Aug; 126(2):461-9
- Mueller C, Giannitsis E, Möckel M, Huber K, Mair J, Plebani M, Thygesen K, Jaffe AS, Lindahl B; Biomarker Study Group of the ESC Acute Cardiovascular Care Association. Rapid rule out of acute myocardial infarction: novel biomarker-based strategies. Eur Heart J Acute Cardiovasc Care. 2017 Apr; 6(3):218-222.

IV Eidesstattliche Versicherung

"Ich, Miloš Tajsić, versichere an Eides statt durch meine eigenhändige Unterschrift, dass ich die vorgelegte Dissertation mit dem Thema:

Midregional Pro-A-Type Natriuretic Peptide as Part of a Dual Biomarker Strategy for the Early Rule Out of non-ST Segment Elevation Acute Coronary Syndrome

5

Mittregionales Pro-Atriales Natriuretisches Peptid als Teil einer dualen Biomarker-Strategie für den früheren Ausschluss des akuten Koronarsyndroms ohne ST-Strecken-Hebung

selbstständig und ohne nicht offengelegte Hilfe Dritter verfasst und keine anderen als die angegebenen Quellen und Hilfsmittel genutzt habe. Alle Stellen, die wörtlich oder dem Sinne nach auf Publikationen oder Vorträgen anderer Autoren beruhen, sind als solche in korrekter Zitierung kenntlich gemacht. Die Abschnitte zu Methodik (insbesondere praktische Arbeiten, Laborbestimmungen, statistische Aufarbeitung) und Resultaten (insbesondere Abbildungen, Graphiken und Tabellen) werden von mir verantwortet.

Meine Anteile an etwaigen Publikationen zu dieser Dissertation entsprechen denen, die in der untenstehenden gemeinsamen Erklärung mit dem Betreuer, angegeben sind. Für sämtliche im Rahmen der Dissertation entstandenen Publikationen wurden die Richtlinien des ICMJE (International Committee of Medical Journal Editors; <u>www.icmje.og</u>) zur Autorenschaft eingehalten. Ich erkläre ferner, dass mir die Satzung der Charité – Universitätsmedizin Berlin zur Sicherung Guter Wissenschaftlicher Praxis bekannt ist und ich mich zur Einhaltung dieser Satzung verpflichte.

Die Bedeutung dieser eidesstattlichen Versicherung und die strafrechtlichen Folgen einer unwahren eidesstattlichen Versicherung (§156,161 des Strafgesetzbuches) sind mir bekannt und bewusst."

Berlin, 29.05.2019

Unterschrift

Anteilserklärung an der erfolgten Publikation

Miloš Tajsić hatte folgenden Anteil an der folgenden Publikation:

Tajsic M, Járai R, Koch J, Stangl K, Wojta J, Dreger H, Huber K. Midregional pro-A-type natriuretic peptide as part of a dual biomarker strategy for the early rule out of non-ST segment elevation acute coronary syndrome - The WilCop study. Int J Cardiol. 2018

Beitrag im Einzelnen: Der Anteil von Miloš Tajsić an der Publikation bestand in der selbstständigen Erfassung der Daten sowie in der komplette statistische Auswertung der Ergebnisse und deren kritischen Analyse innerhalb der Diskussion mit PD Dr. med. Dreger und Prof. Dr. Huber. Darüber hinaus Miloš Tajsić verfasste, unter der Betreuung von PD Dr. Dreger sowie Prof. Dr. Huber, den kompletten Text der Publikation.

Berlin, 29.05.2019

Unterschrift der promovierenden Person

Unterschrift Erstbetreuer

V Auszug aus der Journal Summary List

Journal Data Filtered By: Selected JCR Year: 2017 Selected Editions: SCIE,SSCI Selected Categories: "CARDIAC and CARDIOVASCULAR SYSTEMS" Selected Category Scheme: WoS Gesamtanzahl: 128 Journale

Rank	Full Journal Title	Total Cites	Journal Impact Factor	Eigenfactor Score
	Cardiovascular			
24	Diabetology	4,796	5.235	0.011190
25	EUROPACE	9,232	5.231	0.026860
	REVISTA ESPANOLA DE			
26	CARDIOLOGIA	3,338	5.166	0.004720
	Circulation-			
	Cardiovascular Quality			
27	and Outcomes	4,337	5.036	0.016830
20	AND CARDIOVASCULAR	27.402	4 0 0 0	0.042650
28		27,492	4.880	0.042650
29	HEART RHYTHM	11,723	4.743	0.033520
20	Circulation-Arrnythmia	6.026	4 710	0.021200
50		0,020	4./12	0.021390
31	MEDICINE	2 588	4 598	0 004040
	European Journal of	2,500	4.550	0.004040
32	Preventive Cardiology	3,478	4.542	0.013060
	CANADIAN JOURNAL OF	,		
33	CARDIOLOGY	6,035	4.524	0.017810
34	ATHEROSCLEROSIS	23,013	4.467	0.039120
	Clinical Research in			
35	Cardiology	2,789	4.455	0.007260
	Journal of the American			
36	Heart Association	9 <mark>,</mark> 057	4.450	0.047030
37	EuroIntervention	5,742	4.417	0.019300
	CURRENT PROBLEMS IN			
38	CARDIOLOGY	569	4.190	0.001040
	AMERICAN HEART			
39	JOURNAL	21,762	4.171	0.035520
40	HEART FAILURE REVIEWS	2.288	4.104	0.005280
	INTERNATIONAL			
	JOURNAL OF			
41	CARDIOLOGY	27,788	4.034	0.077900
	JOURNAL OF CARDIAC	E 477	2.0.12	0.010100
42	FAILURE	5,177	3.942	0.010430
42		2 500	2017	0.004120
45		5,508	5.647	0.004120
44	SURGERV	34 006	3 779	0.043550
		54,000	5.775	0.043330
	PHYSIOLOGY-HEART AND			
	CIRCULATORY			
45	PHYSIOLOGY	28,039	3.569	0.027570
	EUROPEAN JOURNAL OF			
	CARDIO-THORACIC			
46	SURGERY	15,001	3.504	0.026110

Selected JCR Year: 2017; Selected Categories: "CARDIAC and CARDIOVASCULAR SYSTEMS"

VI Publikation

Supplemental Data

VII Lebenslauf

Mein Lebenslauf wird aus datenschutzrechtlichen Gründen in der elektronischen Version meiner Arbeit nicht veröffentlicht.

VIII Publikationsliste

1. **Tajsic M**, Járai R, Koch J, Stangl K, Wojta J, Dreger H, Huber K. Midregional pro-A-type natriuretic peptide as part of a dual biomarker strategy for the early rule out of non-ST segment elevation acute coronary syndrome - The WilCop study. Int J Cardiol. 2018 Dec 15; 273:243-248.

doi: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2018.09.084. Epub 2018 Sep 26. PubMed PMID: 30282602.

2. Koehler F, Koehler K, Deckwart O, Prescher S, Wegscheider K, Kirwan BA, Winkler S, Vettorazzi E, Bruch L, Oeff M, Zugck C, Doerr G, Naegele H, Störk S, Butter C, Sechtem U, Angermann C, Gola G, Prondzinsky R, Edelmann F, Spethmann S, Schellong SM, Schulze PC, Bauersachs J, Wellge B, Schoebel C, **Tajsic M**, Dreger H, Anker SD, Stangl K. Efficacy of telemedical interventional management in patients with heart failure (TIM-HF2): a randomised, controlled, parallel-group, unmasked trial.

Lancet. 2018 Sep 22; 392(10152):1047-1057.

doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(18)31880-4. Epub 2018 Aug 25. PubMed PMID: 30153985.

3. Möckel M, Searle J, Hamm C, Slagman A, Blankenberg S, Huber K, Katus H, Liebetrau C, Müller C, Muller R, Peitsmeyer P, von Recum J, **Tajsic M**, Vollert JO, Giannitsis E. Early discharge using single cardiac troponin and copeptin testing in patients with suspected acute coronary syndrome (ACS): a randomized, controlled clinical process study. Eur Heart J. 2015 Feb 7; 36(6):369-76.

doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehu178. Epub 2014 Apr 30. PubMed PMID: 24786301; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC4320319.

4. Freynhofer MK, Tajsić M, Wojta J, Huber K.
Biomarkers in acute coronary artery disease.
Wien Med Wochenschr. 2012 Nov; 162(21-22):489-98.
doi: 10.1007/s10354-012-0148-2. Epub 2012 Nov 10. Review. PubMed PMID: 23143510.

IX Danksagung

Für die freundliche Überlassung des Themas dieser Arbeit möchte ich mich ganz herzlich bei Herrn Prim. Prof. Dr. Kurt Huber (Leiter der III Medizinischen Abteilung mit Kardiologie und Notfallmedizin, Wilhelminenspital der Stadt Wien) und bei Herrn Priv. Dozent Dr. Henryk Dreger (Leiter des Herzkatheterlabors an der Klinik für Kardiologie und Angiologie, Charité Campus Mitte) bedanken, die mir stets mit Rat und Tat zur Seite standen und deren herausragende Betreuung ich stets als außergewöhnliches Privileg empfand.

Zu guter Letzt möchte ich meiner Frau Maria danken, für ihre fortwährende und liebevolle Unterstützung, ohne sie wäre all das nicht möglich gewesen.